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el. We are Committed to Achieve
or Employees and Shareholders.

Ve pledge to:

e relentlessly pursue advantages of economy of scale;

e continuously strengthen brand reputation;

e develop cutting-edge products through R & D;

e always ensure the highest product quality;

e unleash employees’ talent and potential;

e adopt the high standards in corporate social responsibility.



We Focus, therefore We Excel
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Capitalizing on the sustained high growth in China's economy,

the Group is dedicated to enhance its competitiveness
to achieve the goal of doubling our turnover before 2015
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Five Year Financial Summary

BZE=A=+—HIEE Year ended 31 March

—E-TF "ZTNEFE ZTENE "ZTTtE ZTITREF
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FE T FE T THET FET FET
%48 Results HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e 5,455,742 5,089,931 4,648,386 3,913,835 3,329,670
Turnover
BRBiADEA 516,598 346,187 382,788 321,700 218415
Profit before taxation
BiE
Taxation (82,008) (82,145) (63,354) (51,982) (21,681)
Z'&%E’@Eﬂ 434,590 264,042 319,434 269,718 196,734
Profit for the year
PR F
Attributable to
RRARBR 378,064 224228 275183 223,636 168,389
Owners of the Company
9%“&%*&@ 56,526 39,814 44,251 46,082 28,345
Minority interests
434,590 264,042 319,434 269,718 196,734
HBIEEEl Per share data
FRER (BL)
Earnings per share (HK cents)
V E7K Basic 70.3 41.9 56.7 46.6 35.5
V #55 Diluted 69.2 41.6 55.9 46.1 35.2
FRIRE GBL)*
Dividend per share (HK cents)* 32.0 25.0 25.0 20.0 14.0
P4 # LL & Financial ratios
T4 e B FR R
Return on average total assets 9.8% 7.0% 10.1% 10.8% 9.6%
FHERRESEFHRE
Return on average shareholders’ funds 19.3% 13.7% 21.6% 22.4% 20.4%
R EERKREEESHIRE2.0/84L -
* Dividend per share in 2007 included the special dividend HK2.0 cents per share.
R=HA=+4+—H At 31 March
—E-TF CZTHFE ZBENE TTtFE ZTITRE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FET T T TFHET FExT FHET
HER &\ Assets and Liabilities HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
"ERE 4,480,868 3,239,781 3,203,077 2,263,205 1,876,324
Total assets
= ENE
Total liabilities (2,153,630) (1,213,905) (1,574,112) (1,029,518) (893,103)
2,327,238 2,025,876 1,628,965 1,233,687 983,221
D B IR E(L S
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,085,979 1,830,396 1,448,777 1,103,808 893,951
LHB R 241,259 195480 180,188 129,879 89,270
Minority interests
2,327,238 2,025,876 1,628,965 1,233,687 983,221
FRITEEHRRESHL R 2% N/A 10% 14% 28%

Net bank borrowings to shareholders’ funds
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SEBNRNBERECOhFRNIR
Analysis Of Turnover And Segment Result
For The Past Five Years

& 2 28 Turnover

HZEZE=HA=+—HIFE Year ended 31 March

—®-TF —TENF —TT\F —TTLE —TTXE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
F#n  FEx  TEr  FAxn  FEx

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000

393 7|

Az 3,028,993 2,976,563 2,745,605 2,241,252 1,973,581
Solvents

i’H 2,088,019 1,852,881 1,666,336 1,442,874 1,196,034
Coatings

SEEE

’E’ﬁ.’ﬁ 292,475 257,446 248,656 205,524 219,314
Lubricants

B

St 135,974 80,753 103,616 120,727 64,023
Others

R Ik eH

Elimination (89,719) (77,712) (115,827) (96,541) (123,282)
5]

Total 5,455,742 5,089,931 4,648,386 3,913,836 3,329,670




BN DEEB 2 AF D Analysis Of Turnover And Segment Result For The Past Five Years
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SN 5 EEE 2 TFEDH Analysis Of Turnover And Segment Result For The Past Five Years

o ¥ 4& Segment Result

HBZEZE=B=+—HIFE Year ended 31 March
—®-25 -TTHE -—TT\FE "ITLF —TTNE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FExT FExT FiEx FiExT FiExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
393 7|
A 327,044 212,682 250,185 252,324 157,262
Solvents
55*4. 181,534 128,112 124,046 88,501 80,568
Coatings
EEh
Lubricants 7,568 (7,284) 9,493 (6,384) (296)
H
Sl 14,039 6,101 9,461 13,952 5,736
Others
R 5K
Elimination (7,402) (371) (473) 111 (260)
.ﬁﬁl 522,783 339,240 392,712 348,504 243,010

ERLIKEERAR —FENE-Z-ZTFEFH




BN D EEB 2 A F D Analysis Of Turnover And Segment Result For The Past Five Years
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Chairman’s Statement — Review and Prospects

X [E Chairman

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony

ERXCIRBEERAR —2RAE_Z—EFEFR
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FREHRE—EBERREE Chairman’s Statement — Review and Prospects

Review

| am pleased to report to all of our shareholders our business performance
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010. Turnover reached
HK$5,455,742,000, representing a 7% growth, while profit attributable
to shareholders registered HK$378,064,000, which showed a substantial
growth of 69% from a year ago. Both turnover and profits set all-time
records for the Group.

Although as a result of lower selling prices, turnover only showed a
modest increase of 7% from last year, actual delivered volumes rose by
21%, which was in line with the Group’s operational plan. At the same
time, the hefty growth in profits attributable to shareholders stem from
the Group capitalizing on the sustained high growth in China’s economy,
coupled with continued improvements in the Group’s competiveness.

Despite the volume growth causing receivables and inventory to increase,
the Group was nevertheless able to maintain a healthy financial position.
As at 31 March, 2010, the Group's gearing ratio still stayed at only 2%. In
accordance with the Group's principle of prudency, and bearing in mind
our plans to double our sales turnover in the coming five years, the Board
recommends a final dividend of HK20.0 cents per share, which together
with the interim dividend of HK12.0 cents already paid, makes the total
dividend for the year HK32.0 cents per share, representing an increase of
28% over last year's HK25.0 cents.

EEEIEMAE
Members Of The Board

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report



TERE—EFERRE Chairman’s Statement — Review and Prospects
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Review (Continued)

In retrospect, | have to say that | have watched the events unfold over the
past twelve months with mixed emotions of awe, trepidation, and yet at
the same time a sense of excitement. Although, following unprecedented
measures taken by the Central banks of the leading economic powers,
the shock to the financial markets resulting from the global financial
tsunami seemed to have temporarily abated, yet the financial turmoil may
have caused deep and lasting damage to the real global economy. The
recession in the western countries, and the weakness in consumption
have had major impact on a country like China which relies on exports
as one of the pillars of its economy. Fortunately, the Central Government
was able to take decisive action in pushing through a series of measures
to boost the economy by stimulating domestic demand and accelerating
the infrastructure projects. These measures enabled the Chinese economy
to pick up quickly, as well as to provide new impetus for growth. These
measures also reaffirm clearly that reducing reliance on exports and
supporting the industries which target domestic demand have become the
long term strategy to ensure China’s sustained economic growth. Against
this background, the Group’s management was able to steer a steady
course through the stormy seas and to react speedily, casting a vote of
confidence in China’s measures to combat the financial tsunami. Since the
beginning of last year, the Group has adopted the strategy to encourage
each of its core businesses to promote sales growth. The results now show
that this strategy has been as decisive as it was effective. The expanding
domestic demand, coupled with the consolidation in the markets as
weaker competitors have been weeded out in the course of the financial
turmoil, have all benefitted the Group, as its competitive advantage have
become even more evident during the tougher times. The fact that the
Group's businesses were able to quickly rebound and get back on the
growth trail is a testimony to the robustness of this strategy. Whilst the
21% increase in delivered volume is in itself a pleasing result, it is even
more significant that this growth trend has established a good platform
for achieving our medium term growth target.

Retirement of director

Ms. Ip Fung Kuen has retired from office as the Deputy Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company on 1st April, 2010. The board of
directors would like to thank Ms. Ip for her invaluable contributions and
guidance to the Group over the past 30 years, and wish her all the best
following her retirement.

REREIKEERAR —EEANE_Z-ZTFEFH
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FREHRE—EBERREE Chairman’s Statement — Review and Prospects

Prospects

Whilst the western countries are still trying to recover from the effects
of the financial tsunami, Europe is facing another problem of crisis
proportions on the issue of sovereign debts. Against this backdrop, it
is expected that the global economy will still be facing considerable
uncertainties in the coming year. However, the Group is determined
to continue to seize the opportunity to forge ahead and grow at a fast
pace. Having faced the financial tsunami, the Group has reason to believe
that the next five to ten years will be the golden years for growth in
China, and it should also offer opportunities for the Group to grow even
faster and stronger. Following our success in promoting sales expansion
in the beginning of last year, we have now set the medium term goal
of doubling our turnover before 2015. Plans are already underway to
strengthen our management team structure, capacity expansions, and
new plant developments. It is expected that these plans will be completed
by 2013. At the same time, we have revised the Group’s Mission
Statement in order that our employees will be better able to operate
under our corporate values and accomplish our development strategies.
In short, whilst we endeavor to continue to exploit to the fullest extent
the benefits of economy of scale and brand management, we will also
increase our investment in product R&D. While we continue to achieve
good operational results, we will not neglect treating our employees with
care and respect, and to look after the interests of all of our stakeholders.
We will be good custodians of our environment, and be responsible
corporate citizens. Through focusing on our core businesses, we aim to
excel in what we do, and we aim to maintain our public image as one of
the best chemicals companies. Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to
take this opportunity to thank all our employees for their untiring efforts
and outstanding contributions to the success of the Group, and to thank
all our business partners for their confidence in us and their support.

Ip Chi Shing, Tony
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2010

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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THHAE IR E—%£7 O EE CEO's Statement — Business Review

Solvents

Turnover for the solvents business during the year under review reached
a record high of HK$3,028,993,000, while operating profit also set
a record of HK$327,044,000, representing increases of 54% over
last year. On account of its overall competitive strength, the solvents
business has completely recovered from the effects of the financial crisis.
Business growth was especially notable during the second half, enabling
the operating profits to reach record levels. Following the successful
commissioning of the acetate solvents plant at Taixing Jinjiang Chemical
Industry Company Limited in Jiangsu at the end of last year, the Group
is in a position to accelerate its pace of development for the solvents
business in Eastern China. Raw solvents sales for the year under review
reached 391,000 tonnes, representing an increase of 25%, further
improving the advantage of economy of scale.

Benefiting from China’s sustained economic growth and the enormous
business opportunities in Eastern China, we expect the Group’s solvents
business to continue to grow in a steady manner. As the world’s largest
acetate solvents manufacturer with an annual capacity of 430,000
tonnes, we have been market leaders in South China for some time,
with 60% market share. Therefore we expect that the growth prospects
in Eastern China will be even greater than South China. During the past
year, the Group's sales in Eastern China has grown faster than our own
expectations. In order to meet our capacity needs in Eastern China, we
have acquired a piece of land, approximately 9.7 hectares in size, and
adjacent to our Taixing plant at a cost of HK$21.7 million. Our plan is to
build on this piece of land an acetate solvents plant of 300,000-tonne
annual capacity. At the same time, the existing production facilities
will also be further upgraded to provide an additional 70,000 tonnes
of capacity. It is expected that these plant changes and expansions will
be completed before 2012, thus boosting our raw solvent capacity to
800,000 tonnes per annum. These plans will further enhance our economy
of scale, and will strengthen our competitive advantages in Eastern China
and accelerate our development of this market. As for mixed solvents, as
they are used as thinners for our coatings, their business will continue to
growth along with our coatings businesses, providing another impetus for

the growth of the Group’s overall solvents business.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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Coatings

Operating results for the coatings business for the year under review
has been equally gratifying. Turnover and operating profit were at
HK$2,088,019,000 and HK$181,534,000 respectively, representing
increases of 13% and 42% respectively. During the past year, significant
progress has been made both in the strategies to expand sales aggressively
and in marketing developments, in both the industrial and household
coatings segments. Allowing for some downward adjustment in selling
prices reflecting reductions in raw materials prices, total coatings volumes
recorded a 21% increase. Product areas which cater specifically to
domestic Chinese demand, like household paints and inks, in particular,
out-performed coatings as a whole in turnover, volumes, and operating
profits. These outstanding performance reflect the result of years of
continued efforts to enhance the Group's overall competitive strength in
China’s growing domestic market. The results achieved last year has also
given us even more confidence in our business development strategies in
future.

We believe that, following years of development and accumulated
experience, the Group’s coatings business has entered a completely new
phase. The Group welcomes the challenges for growth before us, and
is making preparations for achieving our mid-term goal of doubling our
sales within the next four years. We will continue to put more resources
into enhancing the quality and service of our coatings businesses,
distribution network development, brand value creation and product and
technical development, in order to ensure that our overall competitiveness
is enhanced. We will continue to pursue strategies to aggressively
expand sales and in market development in order to grow market share.
Specifically, efforts will include continuing to improve the image of our
stores and to expand the network to cover even more secondary and
tertiary towns, make more use of web-based promotions, and continuing
to put resources into regional and national TV advertising. At the same
time, in order to further enhance our product R & D capabilities, the
Group is planning to establish a Group Technical Development Centre,
and we expect to be able to start work on this Centre towards the end of
this year.
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Coatings (continued)

Apart from efforts to further strengthen our competitive advantage,
the Group has redoubled its efforts in manpower development and in
upgrading and expanding our production facilities. Where plant expansions
are concerned, the planned expansion in the water-based production
facilities in our Shanghai “Bauhinia” plant and the inks production
facilities in our Hebei “Bauhinia Variegata Inks” plant are progressing on
schedule. At the same time, we have acquired additional land adjacent
to our Tungxiang Plant (6 hectares) and our Zhongshan Inks Plant (2
hectares) last year, and plans are underway to build additional facilities for
production of varnishes, industrial paints and inks, and construction work
is expected to commence within this year. Moreover, in order to meet
the significant mid to longer term needs of “Bauhinia” household paints,
the Group is planning a new plant in Eastern China which can cater for
HK$4 billion of turnover. Through centralized production, this planned
facility will greatly enhance the overall scale economy of our coatings
production. According to current plans, construction of this new plant will
take place in two phases. In the first phase, the total capacity will enable
“Bauhinia” to achieve an additional HK$2 billion of turnover, and will be
completed on or before 2013, along with the other expansion projects as
mentioned above. All these capital projects will provide a better hardware
platform and pave the way for the Group’s coatings business to grow
rapidly.

Lubricants

During the period under review, improvements have been achieved in the
lubricants business. Turnover, at HK$292,475,000, was 14% higher than
a year ago. Operating profit was HK$7,568,000, but if the one-off capital
gain from an asset acquisition in Zhanjiang was discounted, the normal
recurring operating profit was only HK$60,000. Nevertheless, this basically
breakeven position already represents a significant improvement over last
year's loss position. During the past year, industrial specialty lubricants
benefited from gradual improvements in the export segment, while
automotive lubricants recorded a volume increase of 40% as a result of
active development of the distribution network, coupled with the strong
domestic demand. It is expected that the performance of the Group's
overall lubricants business will continue to improve from the present
breakeven position. Along with continued volume growth, the synergistic
effects of the two lubricants businesses should gradually be realized,
thus lowering procurement and operating costs, leading to performance
improvements.

Wong Kam Yim, Kenny
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 29 June 2010
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The Group'’s Three Core Businesses Are:

l 2
Solvents

Ve

Lubricants
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Solvents

The solvents division produces environmentally friendly industrial
organic solvents, which can be grouped into two types: (1) raw solvents,
including ethyl acetate, normal butyl acetate, mixed butyl acetate and
ethanol, are widely used in industries such as coatings, tannery, medicine
and adhesives; (2) mixed solvents, commonly known as thinners, are
mostly used in the toys, electronics, printing and furniture industries.

As the Group’s largest core business, solvents are produced and sold
through various subsidiaries. With a production capacity of 430,000
tonnes, it is currently the world's largest producer of acetate solvents.

Economy of scale, stringent quality control, efficient operations and
strategic locations are all factors that contribute to the success of the
Group's solvents business.
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Coatings

The coatings division is involved in the production and marketing of
domestic architectural and industrial paints, inks, varnishes, and resins,
and serves an extensive range of industries, including construction, toys,
electronics, furniture, food and gift packaging, and printing.
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Paints — Domestic Architectural Paints -

Brand name: “Bauhinia”

“Bauhinia” architectural paints include water-based
emulsion paints and solvent-based paints for wood
finishing. As one of the first batch of brands awarded
the “China Top Brand”, Bauhinia architectural paints
are well known for its superior quality. As the Group
will deploy more resources in promoting the brand,
Bauhinia architectural paints will continue its steady growth in future.
Besides, since the Bauhinia solvent-based paints for wood finishing is
already a market leader in China, the Group will focus on expanding its
share of the water-based decorative paints in future.

Paints — Industrial Paints —

Brand names: “Bauhinia”, “Adcoat”, “Pak Lam Choice”
"Bauhinia” industrial paints include paints for furniture, toys and electronic
casings. It has passed the stringent tests set by many world’s famous toy
and electronic brand manufacturers, and placed on their designated lists
of suppliers.

"Adcoat” is the brand name for a range of products for the electrical
and electronics industries. It includes a specialty insulating varnish and a
range of PCB printing inks for the electronics industry. “Adcoat” is the
first insulation varnish to have received the Underwriter Laboratories (UL)
approval in China.

"Pak Lam Choice” is digital electronic coatings used in digital products
and electronic appliances. The product range includes: UV series, PU series,
electroplating effect series etc. “Pak Lam Choice” specializes in high-
quality and special color effect coatings and is widely used by international
renowned electronic manufacturers.

REREIKEEERAR —EEANE_ZT-ZTFEFH




2 E)

WE —[FRAIRE

BE1998F RV 25 HMBEEBERIBREESR
MRGEEREVEEEES  BRICKAZH
BRABRIOREERBREBENRHBMEER -
EEGEEY ERRELHEBECEKEBELNES
SEEM - FAFARETESREER ERY
HESERRER  NEXEIHE  BEhE
FAKMEHBE o

AE-THRERHE  SER-ZFT FHE
WP ARENRIMER - SWLAREESENRIHEREE
ARIHBEBNFERREAESZS D -

YEE L — [ THehE 5RE

[ T4k IREHERELCH  EMERNE
TEOREMTER  BZARMBESE &
B+ - XARMABERIE o[ T4k 55E
EXRRT] BEEX R UK BEEE
Efm - REAELNRIE

s — [ X8 ke
BEDEEZRNEIERB 22— [ K2 18K
FTELAEHZAME  TEUMERE - M4
EBERIMBEEBREZA - ARREER [ K&
B HEEANZAEE

T

oodioda Vaniagad

7%} Business Profiles

Coatings (Continued)

Inks — Brand names: “Bauhinia Variegata”

Since its establishment in 1998, the inks business has specialized in the
development of plastic printing inks and gravure inks and is the largest
supplier of ink products for the plastic shopping bags and food packaging
in China today. The business has three strategically well positioned
manufacturing sites in Southern, Eastern, and Northern China. In recent
years, the Group has introduced environmentally friendly products such as
benzene-free and ketone-free inks, alcohol-based inks and water-based
inks in response to market demands.

To further broaden the inks business profile, development of offset
printing inks commenced in 2006, and is expected to provide the Group's
inks business with further impetus for growth in the years ahead.

Specialty Varnishes — Brand name: “Golaxxo”

"Golaxxo” is a specialty glossy varnish for printing and post-printing
processes. It finds application in the finishes for books, cards and other
stationery, as well as in gift boxes and boxes for toys. Golaxxo is a leading
brand of blister packing varnishes, UV varnishes and paper laminating
glues in China.

Resins — Brand name: “Da Chang”

Resins is a key ingredient in coatings formulations. The resins division,
operating under the "Da Chang” brand, specializes in the production of
resins for paints manufacturing. The majority of the resins produced are
sold to third parties while a small portion of the resins produced is used
internally by Group companies. The superior quality of Da Chang resins
enjoys a good reputation among customers in the paints industry.
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Lubricants

Brands: “Hercules” automotive and industrial lubricants,
and "Pacoil” specialty lubricants

The "Hercules” brand of lubricants includes a comprehensive range of
automotive and industrial lubricants products, which features engine oils,
antifreeze fluid, brake fluid, greases, gear oil, automatic transmission fluid,
hydraulic oil, and turbine oil. “Hercules” successfully gained approval in
The National High Technology Research and Development Program (863
Program), which aims at developing specialized methanol fuel engine oil.

"Pacoil” brand of specialty lubricants serve industries such as metal
processing, plastics, automobiles, aeronautics, electronics, electrical
appliances, weaving and timber, as well as watches and clocks. In addition,
the lubricants division is also a distributor for many leading global specialty
lubricant brands such as Castrol-Optimol, Castrol-Tribol, Sumico and
Milacron.
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The Group treats corporate social responsibility as part of its mission,
and sees it as a long term task and a worthy cause. The Group seeks
to influence and to mobilize its stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, and business partners, to join hands in fulfilling its
responsibilities to society, to bring about positive change and to build
a better, more harmonious society together. At the same time, before
the Group commits on a business decision, it will consider its impact on
society, on the economy and on the environment. The Group endeavours
to incorporate the concept of sustainability into its business operations
and business management processes, so that a balance can be achieved
among the different aspects of sustainability while the Group’s business
objectives are being pursued.

Safety First

As a company which engages in the business of chemicals manufacturing,
the Group has always treated work place safety and security at the top of
our priorities. The Group set up a “Group Safety, Health and Environment
Department” to better coordinate efforts to improve the working
environment and ensure all our employees are able to work in a healthy
and safe environment. At the same time, the Department also continuously
reviews and optimises the Group’s operational and production procedures
to enhance its environmental standards.
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Social Responsibility

Guided by the motto of “What comes from the community, to be used
for the community,” the Group has always been keen to contribute to
society. In the past year, the Group has actively participated in many
different charitable social events, such as charitable cookie sales and
tree planting activities organized by “Friends of the Earth”, the Standard
Chartered Marathon and Walks-for-Million. Employees at all levels, from
the Chairman on down, participated in these charity events and played
their part in contributing to society.

Apart from participating in various CSR activities, the Group is also
developing its own flagship CSR programme with the aim to not only
being an active participant, but also through the flagship programme to
further promote and realize our CSR philosophy.

The Group donated a mobile eye surgery centre to the Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region through the Asian Foundation for the Prevention of
Blindness in 2008. To date, the centre has performed cataract removal and
implants of artificial lenses for more than 1,000 cataract patients to help
restore their sight and color vision. In addition, the Group has donated the
second mobile eye surgery centre to Jiangsu province and it is expected
to commence operation in July this year. Encouraged by these positive
results, the Group expanded the scale of the project in 2010 and signed
a “Ten-year Donation Plan for the Mobile Eye Surgery Centre” with the
Asian Foundation for the Prevention of Blindness and the China Disabled
Persons’ Federation. This initiative is a long term commitment by the
Group to donate at least 10 mobile eye surgery centres with advanced
eye surgery equipment to different provinces in Mainland China during
the next decade. According to the agreement, the donation amount
involved will be more than RMB20,000,000. The Group firmly believes
that the mobile eye surgery centre represents an effective platform to
reach the cataract patients in the rural areas and provide them with quality
eye treatment. Together with the 10 mobile eye surgery centre in the
agreement, there will be at least 12 mobile eye surgery centres serving
people in different provinces in the future.
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Economic Contribution

Along with sustained business growth, the Group currently has more than
4,500 employees under its payroll, offering them opportunities for training
and career development. Over the years, the Group has been paying its
share of taxes as required under the law and contributing to the social and
economic development of the community in which we operate.

Environmental Protection

The Group established the “Yip's Green Action Committee” in 2009 to
regularly provide our employees with information and suggestions for
green working and green living. One of the first targets of the team is to
“save paper, save energy and create a green working environment”. The
team held six meetings last year and has achieved outstanding results in
saving paper. Last year, the Group delivered around 10 tonnes of used
paper to a recycler in exchange for daily amenities such as pencils and toilet
paper. Subsequently, the team set up permanent waste paper recycling
stations in the office to collect used paper on a regular and on-going basis.
The team also posts notices in our offices to encourage colleagues to reuse
paper with printing on one side or to print on both sides to reduce paper
consumption. Also, the Group sends e-cards for festivals greetings to save
paper and promote the message of environmental protection.

To create a green working environment, the team has nurtured green
houseplants in offices to provide a refreshing working environment. To
save energy, the team is embarking on the “Green Roof” project which
will not only provide employees with a pleasant place for a break, but
will also help reduce the temperature in offices and reduce electricity
consumption.
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Awards

Asiamoney — “Best-managed Small-cap Corporate — Hong
Kong” and Number 3 ranking in the “Best Overall for
Corporate Governance in Hong Kong”

In Asiamoney’s Best-managed Companies Poll held in December 2009,
the Group won the title “Best-managed Small-cap Corporate — Hong
Kong"”. It also ranked third in “Best Overall for Corporate Governance in
Hong Kong” in Asiamoney’s “Corporate Governance Poll 2009”. It is the
second time in three years that Yip’s Chemical has earned these accolades,
reflecting the recognition by the investment community of its high
standards of corporate governance.

The Asset — “Titanium Awards for Corporate Governance”
and “Titanium Awards for Investor Relations”

In “The Asset Corporate Award 2009"” organised by “The Asset”
magazine in December 2009, the Group garnered “Titanium Awards for
Corporate Governance” and “Titanium Awards for Investor Relations”.
Winners are selected from among listed companies in Asia by the judging

panel comprising of professional investors and financial analysts.
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The Group will continue to implement prudent financial management
policy and maintain a reasonable gearing ratio during expansion. As at 31
March 2010, the Group’s net bank borrowings and gearing ratio (measured
by net bank borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable to owners
of the Company) were HK$44,823,000 and 2.1% respectively, compared
with a net cash position of HK$369,131,000 as at 31 March 2009.

As at 31 March 2010, the gross bank borrowings of the Group amounted
to HK$1,051,141,000 (at 31 March 2009: HK$516,853,000). Out of this
amount, HK$823,141,000 (at 31 March 2009: HK$449,464,000) was
repayable within one year, of which HK$382,337,000 was denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$378,367,000 in US Dollar and HK$62,437,000
in Renminbi (at 31 March 2009: HK$273,920,000 was denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars, HK$143,993,000 in US Dollar and HK$31,551,000 in
Renminbi). Loans repayable after one year amounted to HK$228,000,000
(at 31 March 2009: HK$67,389,000). These loans carried interest at
floating or fixed rates.

As at 31 March 2010, a total of 11 banks in Hong Kong, Macau and PRC
granted banking facilities totaling HK$2,413,621,000 (at 31 March 2009:
HK$2,132,788,000) to the Group and provided sufficient funds to meet
its present working capital and expansion. 71%, 23% and 6% of these
banking facilities were denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, US Dollar and
Renminbi respectively. If major investment or mergers and acquisitions
opportunities emerge in the future, the Group may obtain funding by
either drawing bank loans or raising funds in the equity market.

Since the borrowings of the Group carry interest at floating or fixed rates,
some of our funding costs are subject to interest rate fluctuation. Since
the beginning of last year, continuous and enormous inflow of hot money
has driven down the three months or shorter Hong Kong Dollar inter-
bank interest rate to a very low level and this helped the Group to reduce
its borrowing cost. In respect of United States Dollar loans, interest rate
swaps may be used to hedge against interest rate fluctuation depending
on the amount and duration of the loan. Besides, the Group is exposed
to Renminbi exchange rate risk as the Group’s assets are mainly located
in the Mainland China and most of its income is generated in Renminbi.
It is expected that economic development in China will remain strong
and Renminbi will appreciate steadily. Thus, the management considers
that no hedging measures against Hong Kong Dollar interest rate and
Renminbi exchange rate exposures are necessary at this stage but will
closely monitor these fluctuations. The Group will strike a balance between
lowering borrowing cost and minimizing currency exposure by combining
its investments in either Hong Kong Dollar, US Dollar or Renminbi bank
loans.
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As at 31 March 2010 there were a total of 4,529 employees, of which 131
were from Hong Kong and Macau, and 4,398 were from Mainland China.

The Group places a high degree of emphasis on the management of
human capital, from the identification of the talent pool, to providing
training and development and all the way to offering proper opportunities
for them to perform to their fullest potential. Through both in-house
and external training programs, on-the-job training, and participation
in subsidized educational courses, employees are able to improve their
performance and enhance their value to the Group. We offer excellent
opportunities for development of those employees who have the potential
and the commitment, regardless of their background, geographical
region, or educational levels. The current leadership of the Group includes
some who have started from junior positions and have come through the
ranks to advance to positions of management. In addition to promotion
from within, the Group also seeks to attract talent from outside. The
Group also recruits from the best tertiary institutions in Hong Kong, in the
Mainland, and abroad and provide them with training and development
opportunities. The Group has been running this Management Trainee
program for some years, and some of the former trainees have already
advanced to positions of leadership within the Group, either as a General
Manager of a subsidiary company or a member of the Group Management
Committee.

The Group offers a challenging work environment, and has a variety
of programs to encourage employees to strive for their best and to
upgrade their skills in order that the Group has sufficient talent to move
forward and to continue its business development. Based on references
to the market trend analyses, the Group seeks to provide reasonable
and competitive remuneration packages which include basic salary and
performance-based bonuses and stock options to attract and retain good
performers.
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Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony
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Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, aged 62, is the co-founder and the chairman of
the Group. Mr. Ip has over 30 years of experience in the manufacture of
and trading in petrochemical products. He is the brother of Ms. Ip Fung
Kuen (retired on 1 April 2010) and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, deputy
chairmen and executive directors of the Group. In 2006, Mr. Ip established
“lp Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited” with the objectives of
fostering education in China and providing care for the underprivileged
groups in Hong Kong.

Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, aged 58, is the co-founder of the Group. She is a
deputy chairman and an executive director of the Group and is also the
chairman of Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Greater China)
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. She has over 20 years of
experience in paints manufacturing. She holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Chinese Literature from the National Taiwan University. She is the sister of
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, executive directors of
the Group. Ms. Ip retired from the office as the deputy chairman and an
executive director of the Group on 1 April 2010.

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, aged 51, joined the Group in 1977. He is a
deputy chairman and an executive director of the Group and is also the
chairman of a number of subsidiaries of the Group including Yip's Ink and
Chemicals (Group) Limited, Jiangmen Handsome Chemical Development
Limited, Jiangmen Thansome Solvents Production Limited, Huizhou
Shengda Chemical Co., Limited and Taixing Jinjiang Chemical Industry
Company Limited. He has over 30 years of experience in the manufacture
of and trading in petrochemical products. He is the brother of Mr. Ip Chi
Shing, Tony and Ms. Ip Fung Kuen (retired on 1 April 2010), executive
directors of the Group.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Ting Hon Yam, aged 57, has been an executive director of the Group
since 1994. He is currently responsible for the overall management of the
Group's business development in China. Mr. Ting joined the Group in
1983 and has over 20 years of experience in the petrochemical industry.

Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert, aged 62, has been an executive director of
the Group since 2002 and is also the head of corporate communications
department of the Group. Mr. Young received a Master’s degree in
Chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley in 1972 and a MBA
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong’s 3-Year MBA Programme in
1981. He has extensive experience in the petrochemical industry, and was
the Director for Hong Kong/Macau for Shell Hong Kong Limited from
1993 to 2000. He is also a member of the Executive Committee of the
Hong Kong Housing Society, a member of the Marketing Management
Committee of the Hong Kong Management Association, and the
chairperson of Friends of the Earth (Charity) Limited.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny, aged 49, has been the chief executive
officer of the Group since 2008. Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive
director of the Group in 2002. He is also the general manager of Hong
Kong Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Greater China) Company Limited,
a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of
Sheffield in the United Kingdom in 1987 with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Studies and obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the University of Wales in the United Kingdom in 1988. He joined
the Group in 1996 and has over 20 years of experience in marketing and
management.

Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, aged 52, has been the chief financial officer
of the Group since 2008. Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive director
of the Group in 1992. Mr. Ng obtained a Higher Diploma in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in 1980. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined the
Group in 1991 and has over 20 years of experience in the field of auditing
and accounting.

Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter, aged 53, has been an executive director and the
chief operations officer of the Group since 2008. Mr. Li joined the Group
in 2004 as assistant director and since then has also served as director for
a number of subsidiaries of the Group. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in
Mechanical Engineering from The University of Hong Kong and a Master
Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Li has worked in a multi-national petrochemical company for
over 20 years and has extensive experience in engineering, corporate
planning, marketing and operations.
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald, aged 60, was elected as an independent
non-executive director of the Group since 1993 and was re-designated as
a non-executive director of the Group in 2004. Mr. Tong is a partner of
the law firm, Messrs. Cheung, Tong & Rosa, legal advisers of the Group on
Hong Kong Law which receives usual professional fees in connection with
services rendered to the Group. Mr. Tong has been practising as a solicitor
in Hong Kong for over 30 years and is also an independent non-executive
director of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited, a company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kong Chi, aged 52, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Group since 1993. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong retired
in 1993 after working in the merchant banking industry for over 10 years.
He is also an independent non-executive director of Kee Shing (Holdings)
Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie, aged 64, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Group since 2004. Mr. Au-yeung graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in 1974. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Au-Yeung has extensive experience in
management, having held senior executive appointments in the tertiary
education field and the service industry for over 30 years. He is the
treasurer of a charitable organization which raises funds and advocates for
the well-being of children. He is also Honorary Secretary of the Hong Kong
Anti Cancer Society.



ZEREE
Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck

HESRE

BYFHITEE @)

FEREE BEAT=m R-ZTNFE
ZREAEEBYFIITES - THRER—NE=
FEERZIEEMNEIRAS W EBRATEE
TH e RERAZAEMEIARBER=-TH
FEYR KRB BE - ABRTRIEER
LE - -NERARIERAEBHEZEES
FoRBLERZZ2ER FTAEALERER
Hith £ D AR ESRA -

HEFEE RERA NG RZZZNFE
ZEREEBILIHNITES - HEERERNETE
BTZR(AEEBEIARE)  REMBNER
ETEE T - EREERPERAMETER
FHEEFEELR - HBEHETBRRBRAF
ZEE BARRHE2ESREERRZER
THRFRERRLRZER - H ALV EETEM
ERABREMESRIL

ITHAER

BEREE REN+HER R—ANLEM
AXEE HEERAEBAEF A RHEM
8 - BRI ASENBARER R (£E) AR
DR ZBRE  RoBZ=FREBQMAKRE
ITHERELH -

BEEXE REN+N\m ERIREM R
—ANZEMAAEBAL R =T HFEIM
RECIBREROACESHLE - BEAER
—AN=ZFEEREFETIARZ . FRBEALT
EBE—_+ZF BEALENEETFLR-

Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy

ZERITHAER Directors’ and Management Executives’ Profiles

BT RR e
Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu

HWEELE
Mr. Zhao Chu Bang

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck, aged 63, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Group since 2004. Mr. Li graduated from Texas
A&M University with a Master Degree in Statistics in 1973. Mr. Li retired in
2004 after having worked in the petrochemical industry for over 25 years
accumulating extensive experience in logistics, procurement, management,
personnel and administration. He was a representative to the Association
of International Chemical Manufacturers in the 90's to promote safety
distribution of hazardous chemicals. Mr. Li does not hold any directorship
in other listed companies.

Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy, aged 58, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Group since 2008. Mr. Ku graduated from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) and began his career at Shell Chemicals. Mr. Ku has extensive
managerial experience in the oil & petrochemical industries in the Greater
China region. He was a Director of Shell Hong Kong Limited, a Board
Director of the Business Environment Council and the Chairman of Tianjin
International Petroleum Storage and Transportation Company Limited.
Mr. Ku does not hold any directorship in other listed companies.

Management Executives

Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu, aged 45, joined the Group in 1987 and served
at various subsidiaries or departments of the Group. He is currently the
general manager of Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited, a subsidiary
of the Group. Mr. Kwong obtained a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The Open University of Hong Kong in 2003.

Mr. Zhao Chu Bang, aged 48, is an experienced engineer. He joined
the Group in 1993 and has been the managing director of the Jiangmen
Handsome Chemical Development Limited since 2005. He graduated from
the South China University of Technology in 1983. Mr. Zhao has over 20
years of experience in the chemical industry and has extensive experience
in management.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Huang Guan Song, aged 55, has been the general manager of
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, since 2006. He graduated from the South China University of
Technology in 1982. He joined the Group in 1987 and has over 20 years
of experience in the management of the petrochemical industry.

Mr. Leung Wing Ching, Isaac, aged 42, is the financial controller of
the Group. Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy with
the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Leung joined the Group in 1996
and has over 10 years of experience in the field of auditing, finance and
management.

Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, Raymond, aged 33, joined the Group as an
executive management trainee in 2003 and served at various subsidiaries
and departments of the Group. He is currently the assistant to the chief
executive officer of the Group, and serves as the acting financial controller
of the Bauhinia paints business. He has been invited to be a member of
the Group Management Committee since 2009. Mr. Chan obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and a Master Degree in Business Administration from The
Hong Kong University of Science & Technology; he is also a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ip Kwan, Francis, aged 27, joined the Group as an assistant to
director of the Group in 2007 and subsequently served as the marketing
director of Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Greater China)
Company Limited (“Bauhinia Paints”), a subsidiary of the Group. He
is currently the deputy general manager of Bauhinia Paints, mainly
responsible for sales and marketing. He has also been appointed as a
member of the Group Management Committee since 1 April 2010. Mr. Ip
graduated from the London School of Economics with a Bachelor’'s Degree
in Government and Economics. Before joining the Group, he has worked
in global investment bank for 3 years.
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Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Wong Man Chun, Steman, aged 42, joined a company in the special
lubricants industry in 1990 and was the China marketing and business
manager in 1992. In 1995, he established a company named “Pacific Oil
& Chemical Company Limited”, a subsidiary of the Group since 2005, and
has since been the managing director of that company. His duties were
mainly for the China business development and management work.

Mr. Huang Guang De, aged 45, joined the Group in 1994, has been the
general manager of Dachang Polymers (Huizhou) Ltd. (formally known as
Hui Yang Da Chang Industrial Limited) since 2006. Mr. Huang graduated
from the Department of Chemistry, Zheng Zhou University in 1984, is a
patent agent authorized by the State Intellectual Property Office of the
People’s Republic of China and a member of the Safety Production Expert’s
Group of Huizhou City, holds a Certificate of Senior Management
Consultant from American International Training Association, and has
completed a course in business administration and a course in project
management at Tsing Hua University. Before joining the Group in 1994, he
has worked in government departments, research institutes and chemical
factories with extensive experience in management.

Ms. Yau Ching Man, Winnie, aged 27, has been the general manager of
Best Lubricant Blending Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
since February 2009. Ms. Yau graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Engineering in 2005 and
then joined the Group as the executive management trainee. She was the
marketing manager of Best Lubricant Blending Limited in 2007.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal subsidiaries
are engaged in the manufacture of and trading in solvents, coatings and
lubricants.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2010 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 60 and note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively. An interim dividend of HK12.0 cents per share was
paid to the shareholders during the year. The Directors propose a final
dividend of HK20.0 cents per share totalling not less than HK$110,000,000
and the retention of the remaining profit in reserves.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 63 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, special reserve and retained profits. Under Chapter 22 of the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is available for distribution or paying dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided
that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company is
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends can be
distributed out of the share premium and retained profits of the Company,
which amounted to HK$719,891,000 as at 31 March 2010 (2009:
HK$715,717,000).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2010 are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors and Service Contracts
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, Chairman

Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, Deputy Chairman (retired on 1 April 2010)
Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Ting Hon Yam

Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny

Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George

Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Kong Chi

Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie

Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck

Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of Association,
Mr. Ting Hon Yam, being an executive Director, Mr. Tong Wui Tong, Ronald,
a non-executive Director, and Mr. Wong Kong Chi, Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan
Pong, Davie and Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. All remaining Directors will continue in office. At the annual
general meeting last year, the independent non-executive Director, Mr. Li
Chak Man, Chuck, was appointed for a specific term of two years.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The fees of the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors are
determined by the Board of Directors ("the Board").
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Securities

As at 31 March 2010, the interests of the Directors and their respective
associates in the shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which are required (a) to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provision of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the
register to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

LIy Long positions
BRIRA
ZASH
Percentage
of the issued
AR RikER DAER share capital
Personal Family Corporate &y of the
E=pf Name of Director Interests Interests Interests Total Company
EFAAE Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony 172,023,932 2,000,000 (@) 10,000,000 (b) 184,023,932 33.82%
ERE/MA Ms. Ip Fung Kuen
(R=Z2-ZEMA-RER (retired on 1 April 2010) 58,500,000 - - 58,500,000 10.75%
Erdst Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen 37,400,000 20,000,000 (c) - 57,400,000 10.55%
TESEE Mr. Ting Hon Yam 200,000 - - 200,000 0.04%
BRRAE Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert 2,402,000 - - 2,402,000 0.44%
BEERE Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny 208,000 - - 208,000 0.04%
RAYRE Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George 1,932,000 50,000 (d) - 1,982,000 0.36%
ZEREE Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter - - - - -
BERLE Mr. Tong Wi Tung, Ronald - 700,000 (e) - 700,000 0.13%
BESRE Mr. Wong Kong Chi - 100,000 {f) - 100,000 0.02%
BREHLE Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie - - - - -
TERAE Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 150,000 (g) -9 - 150,000 0.03%
HEARE Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 20,680 764,000 (h) - 784,680 0.14%
Fffz Notes:

() HERDARSHAEZZFRERZLIER -

b) HEROVB-—HESHREZZESERQA
(TEE )z ZZE8EHE  ESHALEREEZE
EHEBTRRAGZREERS0%EEEZFHEE
ZREREHRBI100%RARLKEAEREZ
HEFBRERD 2#E -

(a) These shares are held by Madam Liang Bih Yu, the wife of Mr. Ip Chi Shing,
Tony.

(b)  These shares are held by Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited (the
“Foundation”), a charitable organization. Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony controls 50%
(together with his wife control 100%) of the voting power at the general
meeting of the Foundation and he is therefore deemed to be interested in these
shares held by the Foundation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Securities (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(]

(d)

These shares are held by Madam Yip Tso Ka Lai, Brenda, the wife of Mr. Yip Tsz
Hin, Stephen.

These shares are held by Madam Siu Oi Li, Maicy, the wife of Mr. Ng Siu Ping,
George.

These shares are held by Madam Lau Mui Sum, the wife of Mr. Tong Wui Tung,
Ronald.

These shares are held by Madam Jim Siu Wai, the wife of Mr. Wong Kong Chi.

These shares are jointly held with Madam Cheng Yee Ha, the wife of Mr. Li Chak
Man, Chuck.

These shares are held by Madam So Yim Ha, the wife of Mr. Ku Yuen Fun,
Andy.

Details of the share options granted to and held by the Directors under

the Company's existing share option scheme are shown in the next section

headed “Share options”.

Each of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, Ms. Ip Fung Kuen, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen

and Madam Liang Bih Yu, the wife of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, holds one

non-voting deferred share of Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited, a subsidiary of

the Company.

Other than as disclosed above and certain nominee shares in subsidiaries

held by directors in trust for the Company or its subsidiaries, as at 31 March

2010, none of the Directors, chief executive nor their associates held any

interests or short positions in the securities of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

Share Options

On 3 September 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
"Existing Scheme") which will expire on 2 September 2012 in order to
comply with the terms of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. Particulars of the Existing Scheme are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, movements in the number of options which have been
granted to certain Directors and employees under the Existing Scheme are
as follows:—
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BREs

Share Options (continued)

EREsE
Number of share options
AEEnE ERE P
mA-A £Re ) /iR ZRz1-8
. HA(TE il ik Lapsed/ HATE
B 58 Qustanding Granted Evercised cancelled Qutstanding
RS Exercise asat during during during as at
Date of grant ;éic_e 14.2009 the year the year the year 3132010
T
HkS
Ei
Directors
BT “EENFtA=T-A
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony 31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - 100,000 - -
EENETATA
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 - - 200,000
ERRIE “ERLEMAZR
Ms. p Fun%Kuen ) 03 April 2007 4050 200,000 - 200,000 - -
(CZ-2EMA-RER) “EE\FtA=1-A
(retired on 1 April 2010) 31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - 100,000 - -
“ZENETARR
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 200,000 - -
EPHAE “ZENETAER
Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen 05 October 2009 4536 - 300,000 300,000 - -
TEREE ZZZN\ETAZT-R
Mr. Ting Hon Yam 31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - - - 100,000
“ZENETARR
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 - - 200,000
BREBEE ZZR\EAZT-R
Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert 31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - 100,000 - -
“EENETARR
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 200,000 - -
ESfRE ZEECET-ATMA
Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny 14 Noverber 2002 1.190 500,000 - - - 500,000
“ZEMERETLA
17 M%y 2004 1.590 300,000 - - - 300,000
“EERETATME
24 October 2005 2004 200,000 - - - 200,000
CERLENAZH
03 April 2007 4.050 200,000 - - - 200,000
ZZZN\ER=t-H
31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - - - 100,000
“EENETATA
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 - - 200,000
2Ev5E ZEE2E+-F1MA
Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George 14 November 2002 1.190 500,000 - 300,000 - 200,000
“ZEMERATLA
17 May 2004 1590 300,000 - - - 300,000
L TR
24 October 2005 2004 200,000 - - - 200,000
“ERLEMA=A
03 April 2007 4,050 200,000 - - - 200,000
ZZZ\ETAZT-B
31 October 2008 1950 100,000 - - - 100,000
“ERNETARR
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 - - 200,000
SERAE “EEMFRATLA
Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter 17 M%v 2004 1.590 100,000 - - - 100,000
ZEERETAZTRA
24 October 2005 2004 200,000 - - - 200,000
“ZRLEMAZA
03 April 2007 4,050 200,000 - - - 200,000
ZZR\ETA=T-R
31 October 2008 1.950 100,000 - - - 100,000
“ZENETRER
05 October 2009 4536 - 200,000 - - 200,000
3,800,000 1,700,000 1,500,000 - 4,000,000
&I ZEECET-A1MA
Employees 14 November 2002 1.190 100,000 - - - 100,000
“SEMERATLA
17 May 2004 1,590 425,000 - 50,000 - 375,000
“genrLAN
08 October 2004 1690 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - -
“EERETASTMA
24 October 2005 2004 1,194,000 - 352,000 - 842,000
“EELEMA=A
03 April 2007 4,050 4,580,000 - 1,074,000 152,000 3,354,000
ZEZ\ETA=1-H
31 October 2008 1950 4,412,000 - 2,710,000 26,000 1,676,000
“EENETARR
05 October 2009 4536 - 6,662,000 1,198,000 - 5,464,000
12,711,000 6,662,000 7,384,000 178,000 11,811,000
16,511,000 8,362,000 8,884,000 178,000 15,811,000

ER{LIKEERAA

“EENE-E-ZFEFH
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Share Options (continued)

On 5 October 2009, a total of 8,362,000 options were granted to eligible
employees of the Group including directors of the Company and its
subsidaries at an exercise price of HK$4.536. The closing price of the shares
of the Company immediately before the grant of options on 5 October
2009 was HK$4.470. Weighted average closing price of the shares of
the Company immediately before the dates on which the options were
exercised was HK$5.763.

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or their spouses or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such right during the year.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2010, the register of substantial shareholders (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company disclosed above) maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than the interests disclosed
above in respect of certain Directors, the following shareholder had notified
the Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

#E Long positions
731.3.2010
EEBITIRAE
PA=E: 4
Percentage
of the issued
RER AT R EE share capital
Name of 5% Number of of the Company
substantial shareholder Capacity shares held as at 31.3.2010
FMR LLC RE KR (MEE) 32,134,000 5.91%

Investment manager (Note)

fisE . REBEFHFREBMES > FMC LLC HIRARES
32,134,000 RAD AW RGP 2w > mESH
Fidelity Management & Research Company #E
530,734,000 P& - Fidelity Management Trust
Company B2 Pyramis Global Advisors LLC Bl
51,400,000 °

Note :  Under SFO, FMR LLC was deemed to be interested in 32,134,000 shares of the
Company, of which 30,734,000 shares were held by Fidelity Management &
Research Company and 1,400,000 shares were held by Fidelity Management
Trust Company and Pyramis Global Advisors LLC.
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Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, no person, other than the
interests disclosed above in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Position in Securities”, had notified the Company of an
interest or short position in the shares of the Company that was required to
be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale orRedemption of the Company'’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

At at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers.

Corporate Governance

Report on the Company’s corporate governance are set out in “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 48 to 57.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
March 2010 and at the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s total issued shares capital as required
under the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting
to HK$3,800,000.
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Connected Transactions and Directors’
Interests in Contracts

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000 and HK$600,000 to
Goldex Investments Limited and Galsheer Investments Limited respectively
in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, the Directors
of the Company, have beneficial interests, respectively.

Other than disclosed above, no contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director and
a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to listing
shareholders.

Auditors

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messtrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Chi Shing, Tony
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2010
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Statement of Compliance

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company has complied with the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance so as to achieve the Group's objectives of maximizing values for
its employees, customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders, and
safeguarding their interests.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors' securities
transactions. After making specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.
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EEEREBE
Corporate Governance Structure

B3R

Shareholders

BExg

Board of Directors

NEWE
Company Secretary

EREEE EREEZES FHESS

Audit Committee ([BE=]) Remuneration
Board Executive Committee
Committee ("BEC")

SMNEE X BT SEEERES
External Auditor (Mg£gl)

Group Management
Committee ("GMC")

WA=t

Internal Auditors

L ES S
Operations of
the Group
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The Board

The Board’s principal duties are setting policies, monitoring the execution of such
policies, and providing supervision and assistance to the overall management of
the Group.

Composition of the Board

In the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board comprised of a total of thirteen
Directors, including eight executive, one non-executive and four independent
non-executive Directors. There has been a change to the members of the
Board as Ms. Ip Fung Kuen retired from the office of deputy chairman and an
executive director on 1 April 2010. All non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific terms of two years, subject
to re-election.

Biographic details of the Directors are set out in the section of Directors’ and
Management Executives’ Profiles on pages 32 to 39. Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony, is
the brother of Ms. Ip Fung Kuen (retired on 1 April 2010) and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
Stephen. Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not otherwise related to
each other.

The Company has also received annual confirmations from all four Independent
Non-executive Directors in respect of their independence as set out in rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. One of the Independent Non-executive Directors possesses
the appropriate professional accounting qualifications and related financial
management experience.

The Board regularly reviews its composition and membership to ensure that
it possesses the necessary skills, experience and diversity to discharge its
responsibilities effectively. Currently, the Board assumes the responsibilities of
nomination and appointment of new directors.
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The Board (Continued)
Operation of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2010, fourteen *regular and other Board
meetings were held by the Board. The attendance of each Director at these
meetings is shown in the table below:

EERERES
R

Regular Board

EEgHMER
R
Other Board

= Director Meetings Attendance  Meetings Attendance
HITES: Executive Directors:
HER A Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony 4/4 7/10
HREE/E Ms. Ip Fung Kuen 4/4 5/10
(R=ZZ—ZFWMA—BRM) (retired on 1 April 2010)
EFEng Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen 3/4 5/10
TEREE Mr. Ting Hon Yam 4/4 5/10
BREE Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert 4/4 10/10
=R E Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny 4/4 8/10
REBF 4k Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George 4/4 10/10
FEREE Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter 3/4 9/10
FHITES : Non-executive Director:
EERSTAE Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 4/4 4/10
BYFHITES : Independent Non-executive Directors:
\mEELAE Mr. Wong Kong Chi 4/4 3/10
BRE B Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 4/4 3/10
FEREE Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck a/4 3/10
HERS A Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 4/4 5/10
* RARRAEERAESTRIT - REFHBTN * Four Regular board meetings were held approximately quarterly during the year which

RESERLRER  2NESHERSINES
HtEFBRAARNHEREBSE - [RETES
FREFN REAFETFEEARESSHEMS
& UEREEBRATRESTERATER
BREH-

FEECREERAEESEEENBER TSR
BUEXER  BARAQAAEE - AKETA
HESRZEREMREE EXRERAZHN
BAEEA -

RBFRLEIRYTES - UBBBRLAWE
ZBE BRIESUZNRITEFTENER
REBEMEESEREF  REETEBEARES
RESFESXBR BT UBRREHFRSZ
MERED - LWERREDESSHEEANERS
&N’ -

EZRSABEETRBRATDBHERRYER
B

involve the active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communications, by all of the directors. Besides the Regular board meetings, other
board meetings were convened from time to time during the year to approve routine
business or discuss matters that require the Board’s timely attention.

The Group has adopted procedures for the Directors to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.
New directors are offered a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction upon
appointment.

The roles of Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary, held by Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George, ensure that the Directors have ready
access to all necessary information and that all Board procedures are followed.
Mr. Ng is also responsible for offering opportunities of continuing professional
development to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
help ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors and officers liability and company reimbursement insurance coverage
has also been arranged.
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The Board (continued)
Delegation by the Board

Since 1 April 2008, the Company has implemented a new management structure. The Board, as the highest governing body, is
responsible for leading and controlling the businesses of the Group. The Executive Committee of the Board is responsible for setting
long term strategy and monitoring its subsequent implementation. The Board has delegated its principal executive responsibilities to
the Group Management Committee.

THE BOARD

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board is maintained and is subject to regular review. The most important matters
includes:

setting of long term objectives and strategies

approval of preliminary announcements of results

approval of annual budgets

approval of major capital expenditure, acquisitions and disposals
establishment of risk management policies 3
approval of connected transactions

declaration and recommendation of the payment of dividends

appointment of new directors
establishment of Board committees
review and monitoring of internal
management

approval of major policies and guidelines

control and  risk

BOARD EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (“B

Core management team (“CMT"):—

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony (Chairman) * Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny (the Chief Executive Officer, “CEQ")
Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen e Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George (the Chief Financial Officer, “CFO")
Mr. Ting Hon Yam Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter (the Chief Operations Officer, “COO")
Mr. Young Man Kim, Robert

BEC members

Duties and responsibilities

e BEC actsasan active overseeing body and focus on setting long e The members of the CMT were created with clearly defined

term strategies for the Group and monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of those strategies, supervising the CMT
of the Group, as well as regularly reviewing the Group’s
governance structure and setting policies and guidelines to
ensure the proper running of the Group.

responsibilities and accountability.

With his former role of managing the daily operations of
the Company transferred to Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny, the
CEO, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony's role as Chairman of the Board
is more distinctly defined and can concentrate on leading and
ensuring the proper functioning of the Board and the BEC.

GROUP MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (“

GMC members
CMT:—

Mr. Wong Kam Yim, Kenny (the CEO)
Mr. Ng Siu Ping, George (the CFO)
Mr. Li Wai Man, Peter (the COO)

Six senior management executives:—

L]

L]

Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu e Mr. Leung Wing Ching, Isaac
Mr. Zhao Chu Bang e Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, Raymond
Mr. Huang Guan Song e Mr. Ip Kwan, Francis

Duties and responsibilities

e The GMC operates under a clearly defined set of Terms of Reference and normally meets on a monthly basis.
¢ |tisalso responsible for executing the policies and implementing strategic plans, supervising the performance of the business
units, and ensuring targets sets by the Board are met. It includes matters that are not reserved for the Board.

The Board also delegates certain responsibilities to the Remuneration and Audit Committees as described below.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior

Management

The Remuneration Committee, which comprises of one Non-executive Director
and four Independent Non-executive Directors, is chaired by Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan
Pong, Davie and was formed in June 2005. Major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee include:

. making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management

3 determining the remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and
senior management

The revised terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was adopted by
the Company on 16 March 2010 which is available on the Company’s website
and from the Company Secretary upon request.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Remuneration Committee held two
formal meetings and the attendance of each member at this meeting is shown
in the table below:

[24=1 Member Attendance
BifE B Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 212
\mELSLE Mr. Wong Kong Chi 212
FERELE Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 212
EERRSTAE Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 212
HERS A Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 212

REZEERL  FHEESSZHELNLTAH
ZHEHWKFE RN AKEHITEERSRE
HEFHNEE 2 RA R BRI -

FHESSARECHEREEAR-ZTNEF
TRREHREZEERSHEEERTHRRE -

EZMSERAEEA DA RAWES 2 RAEKMm
HRESCHE BE_Z-ZF=A=+—H
LFEXNTARBZESNEEFIINGEY
IR E MG ©

In these meetings, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the principles of the
remuneration structure, the policy and the levels of remuneration paid to the
Group's Executive Directors and senior management, with reference to market
remuneration levels of comparable listed companies.

The share options granted to selected Directors and senior management of the
Group in October 2009 was also approved by all members of the Remuneration
Committee.

Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to Directors by the Company and its
subsidiaries in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries. The amounts paid to each Director of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2010 are shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Accountability and Audit
Directors’ and Auditors’ responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and their announcements to shareholders and commit
to the presentation of a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the
Group's performance, position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The Auditors’ reporting responsibilities are stated in the Auditors’ Report on
pages 58 to 59.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was formed in November 1998 and comprises of one
Non-executive Director and four Independent Non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Mr. Wong Kong Chi. Major roles and functions of the Audit
Committee include:

o reviewing financial information of the Group

o overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures

. monitoring of the relationship between the Group and its external
auditors

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Company’s
website and from the Company Secretary upon request.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31 March 2010
and the attendance of each member at these meetings is shown in the table
below:

RE Member Attendance
mELSLE Mr. Wong Kong Chi 4/4
BRI B FB S Mr. Au-Yeung Tsan Pong, Davie 4/4
FERSLE Mr. Li Chak Man, Chuck 4/4
EERLAE Mr. Tong Wui Tung, Ronald 4/4
HERFEE Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, Andy 4/4
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
The Audit Committee (Continued)
In these meetings, the Audit Committee:

o reviewed the interim and annual results of the Group before their
approval by the Board and in doing so, the committee focused on material
deviations of the Group's performance from past year's results, major
areas of judgement, selection and application of accounting policies and
compliance with regulatory requirements

. received reports from the internal audit department, discussed material
findings with the head of internal audit and approved the internal audit
plan

. discussed the audit plan with the Group’s external auditors and assessed its
independence with reference to its policies for maintaining independence
and reviewed the extent of non-audit services provided

An audit committee meeting was held on 24 June 2010 to review the Group’s
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Internal Control

The Board has delegated to management the responsibilities of designing and
implementing an appropriate system of internal controls to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and
efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The internal audit department was set up in 1997 to monitor independently
the implementation of the internal control procedures, compliance with group
policies and to make recommendations on the effectiveness of the internal
control system. The head of internal audit reports directly to the Chief Executive
Officer (from 1 April 2010 reports to Chief Operations Officer) and the Audit
Committee.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group following the guidance note on the
Group’s Internal Control System revised in 2008. The revised guidance note
require the active and frequent participation by the general manager of each
sub-group in identifying risks affecting its business and implementing measures
to reduce such risks, as well as the active monitoring by the management
committee of each sub-group on the progress of the improvement in internal
control procedures. The BEC and the CMT of the Company are also involved
proactively in the process of identifying risks and ensuring the implementation
of remedial procedures.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration

For the financial year ended 31 March 2010, the fee paid/payable to the Group’s
external auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set out as follows:

2 EAEE

FriR itz iR Services rendered Fee paid/payable

FET

HK$'000

EZRT Audit services 3,710
IEFAZ RS Non-audit services

BB RS Taxation services 678

FHHPEBRE Interim review 580

EZAES Audit of provident fund 18
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Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

To enhance its relationship with the public, shareholders and investors, as well
as to maintain a high level of transparency of company information, the Group
actively maintains an open environment for better communication with all of
our stakeholders.

The Group's Corporate Communications Department acts as a bridge between
the Group and the public, and is responsible for communicating and meeting
with institutional investors and securities analysts. During the year, it has held
more than 50 meetings with local and overseas investors and analysts. The
Group has participated in investment conferences in Hong Kong, Shanghai and
Singapore. The department has also facilitated investors to visit our production
plants to promote a better understanding of the Group.

In addition, every year the Group announces our operational results, the latest
financial information as well as our business development plans to the public,
to our investors, to the media and to our shareholders in press conferences and
investor meetings, as well as holding an annual general meeting to communicate
with our shareholders.

Yip's Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yip’s Chemical
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 146, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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B ZEET RS Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and of
the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2010
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Consolidated Statement Of Comprehensive Income

BZE-Z—ZFH=H=+—RBIFE For the year ended 31 March 2010

—E-BF —EThE
2010 2009
M =E FHERT FET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
BEH Turnover 5 5,455,742 5,089,931
SHEMA Cost of sales (4,175,282) (4,146,092)
EX Gross profit 1,280,460 943,839
Hibyg A Other income 63,560 78,125
HERKHER Selling and distribution expenses (294,752) (206,187)
THER Administrative expenses (523,111) (458,342)
TESemIANARE Fair value change on derivative
284t financial instruments (384) 18,195
NEEMA Interest expense 7 (9,175) (29,443)
BRBE AR Profit before taxation 8 516,598 346,187
BE Taxation ©) (82,008) (82,145)
AN AR Profit for the year 434,590 264,042
Hin2mEU = () Other comprehensive income (expense)
HifEZE 2 HE ™ Exchange differences arising
EECELER on translation 4,098 24,370
FESHMIE A R Reclassification adjustment for
EEZ R cumulative exchange differences
& 5 = FENE included in profit or loss on
BHoERE deregistration of subsidiaries - (6,153)
ReRBEH 2D A EEE Fair value change on cash flow hedges (283) -
AEEEHKEER Total comprehensive income for the year 438,405 282,259
IREEHRIELDEE Profit for the year attributable to:
PN Owners of the Company 378,064 224,228
DERRER Minority interests 56,526 39,814
434,590 264,042
AEEZHEWZELDEE Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
RATRER Owners of the Company 381,403 240,213
DERRER Minority interests 57,002 42,046
438,405 282,259
FREF Earnings per share 11
— &K — Basic HK70.3 cents HK41.9 cents
— s — Diluted HK69.2 cents HK41.6 cents
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Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position

RZZE—ZF=ZA=+—H At 31 March 2010

—E-BF —EThE
2010 2009
M5 FHERT FET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FREBEE Non-current assets
W - BRERERE Property, plant and equipment 12 874,281 775,543
BN LHEE Prepaid lease payments 13 108,789 111,703
BmE Goodwill 14 71,462 71,462
BEE Intangible assets 15 21,060 25,258
AHHERE Available-for-sale investment 16 12,387 12,360
BEYE BER Deposits paid for acquisition
BHA of property, plant and
equipment 28,234 13,613
Hin3ERBEE Other non-current asset 17 4,600 4,600
1,120,813 1,014,539
mENEE Current assets
7E Inventories 18 800,867 386,859
FEW R B 15 Trade and bills receivables 19 1,358,645 832,991
Hib B AR R B RIE Other debtors and prepayments 191,503 111,932
FERLHES Prepaid lease payments 13 2,722 2,608
fTESBI A Derivative financial instruments 20 - 4,868
EHARITIF R Short-term bank deposits 21
—R=EAREIE — with original maturity
within three months 52,456 290,313
—ZA=ERAZEIH — with original maturity more
than three months 387,666 156,456
RITEBRRRE Bank balances and cash 21 566,196 439,215
3,360,055 2,225,242
mENA R Current liabilities
FE{FERFR R FERTE A Creditors and accrued charges 22 1,016,825 606,090
iANEEN Taxation payable 78,096 75,360
BARETDHRR Dividend payable to a minority
shareholder of a subsidiary - 8,427
fTESRMIA Derivative financial instruments 20 730 =
RITEE - —FAEH Bank borrowings — amount due
within one year 23 823,024 449,322
RITEX Bank overdrafts 117 142
1,918,792 1,139,341
MENEERE Net current assets 1,441,263 1,085,901
HEERTDHAR Total assets less current liabilities 2,562,076 2,100,440
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SEBBAMNEK Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position

—E-ZF —EEAEF
2010 2009
FEE FExT FET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FEmENAE Non-current liabilities
RITIEE — —FE3H Bank borrowings — amount due
after one year 23 228,000 67,389
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 24 6,838 7,175
234,838 74,564
2,327,238 2,025,876
B2 B G 0 Capital and reserves
(&N Share capital 25 54,413 53,576
i Reserves 2,031,566 1,776,820
ENFRKREEES Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,085,979 1,830,396
DPHERER Minority interests 241,259 195,480
2,327,238 2,025,876

F0EZEIHZHEOMBHREDHN-ZE—2  The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 146 were approved
EXNAZTHNAEEESHARSETIZ > A and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2010 and are

UTHR&®ES signed on its behalf by:
BE BE DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EER EFH Ip Chi Shing, Tony Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen

RRATIENERAT —SRAE-S-TEEEH
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Consolldated Statement Of Changes In Equity

BE-Z-ZF=A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2010

BENALARR LBR
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRE  TUAK ) EAEE HEBR
BE  BOER i fff HARE  EXBE  fRGA BE & Bi aif
Share Non- Capital
Share Share option ~ distributable Hedging  Translation legal  redemption Retained Minority
capital premium Teserve Teserve eserve feserve feserve feserve profits Total nterests Total

T T T A7 A1 TR TR TR TR T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZEENEME-B  Atl Aprl 2008 4874 259723 3163 67,715 - 246,389 6,865 5038 810643 1448777 180,188 1628965
?ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁiz Exchange differences
Edifa arising on translation - - - - - 2,138 - - - 0138 2232 1310
HEMBAEAMEL,  Redassication adjustment for
ZHENZE cumulative exchange

FEHAEEE differences incuded in
profitor loss on

deregstration of subsidiaries - - - - - (6,153) - - - (6,153) - (6,153)
KEEHT Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 24228 24228 39814 264,042
REERE Total comprehensive
bt income for the yer - - - - - B - Sl M QM 285
Nt Sub-total 4874 259723 3163 67,715 - 262,874 6,865 5038 1,034,871 1,688,990 220,34 191124
ERTRERN Shares ssued at premium
BE7E by placement S0 27000 . - : - - - I T S
REREEAER  Sharesissued at premium upon
BIRf2EE exercise of share options 16 4495 (391) - - - - - - 4266 - 4266
ﬁﬁ‘ﬂﬂﬁ Expenses incurted in connection
withissue of shares - (6815) - - - - - - - (6815) - (6815)
%Juﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬁ%ﬁ Recognition of equity-ettled
ZBxA share-based payments - - 1,064 - - - - - - 1,064 - 1,064
HEERER Share options cancelled and
EREREH transfer to retained profts - - 1) - - - - - 4 - - -
BERAEE Shares repurchased at
(Hat2s) premium (note 25(c) (327) - - - - - - N 8,167) 8,167) - 8167)
L3 Transfer - - - - - - 8543 - (8,543) - - -
EikE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - (13942) (1390 - (123942)
BRIEAFOE  Diidends paid to minoriy
RRE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (26754)  (26,754)
RBBNE At31 March 2009
ZAZt-BR and
RZBEAEMA-R  At1 Api 2009 53,576 527,403 3,795 67,715 - 262,874 15,408 5,365 894260 1,830,3% 195480 2,025876
RfEmELZ Exchange differences arising
Eiks on tendltion - - - - - 3,551 - - - 3551 547 4,098
Réngne Fair value change on cash
MERL flow hedges - - - - (212) - - - - 12) ] (283)
REEHF Profit for the year - - - - - - - - JB0s4 378064 56506 434590
REERE Total comprehensive income
W& () i (expense) for te year - - - - 1) 3551 - - 378,064 381,403 57,002 438,405
I Sub-total 53,576 527,403 3,795 67,715 212 266,425 15,408 5365 12234 2211799 250480 2464281
REREEOER Shares issued t premium
BIRAZEE upon eercse of share options 838 25,915 (2,683) - - - - - - 2,160 - 2,160
BRIRER Bipenses incurred in connection
ELZER with issue of shares - (29) - - - - - - - () - ()
BARBZARER  Recogniton of equity-settled
2Bz share-based payments - - 6,141 - - - - - - 6,141 - 6,141
HEERER Share options cancelled and
EEERDH transfer to retained profits - - (76) - - - - - 7 - - -
EERAZEE Shares repurchased at
(HE25(0) premium note 25(c) (51) - - - - - - 51 - - - -
g5 Tensfer - - - - - - 3745 - (3745) - - -
EARE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - (156093)  (156,003) - (156,003)
BHKBATYE  Dividends paid to minorty
ﬂﬁ% shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - M) (1)
ZE-ZEZAST-R A3 Mach 2010 54413 553,290 1211 67,715 212) 266,425 19,153 5416 1,112,562 2,085,979 U125 2321238

DIREBIETORPERENHBARZR  The non-distributable reserve represents capitalisation of retained profits

"h SAFARERBRERUTEE2ES ()i  of certain subsidiaries of Mainland China for capital re-investment in these

BUREEBESG)BREEEE - subsidiaries and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (ii)
expand production operations.

AEBTAUFRIRZEERERBEBLUINMMEL  The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents the transfer of profits
FRIE BT Mt B 2 AT ERBA ZRF] of a subsidiary outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal requirements in the
relevant place of registration.
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OIREREEXR
Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows

BZE-Z—ZFH=H=+—RBIFE For the year ended 31 March 2010

—ZE-ZF —EThE
2010 2009
FHERT FBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEB2HER Cash flows from operating activities
BRBLRTRF Profit before taxation 516,598 346,187
BT RE : Adjustments for:
EBREE#E Amortisation of intangible assets 4,522 4,562
FEfS T ihFH 2 EH Release of prepaid lease payments 2,995 3,023
WRIEA R B EEN Equity-settled share based payment expense
R 6,141 1,064
M BERSEEZ Depreciation of property, plant
e and equipment 67,476 59,849
M BERSEEZ Impairment loss of property, plant
REZEE and equipment 991 2,169
PTESmMIAEARBEZEL Fair value change on derivative
financial instruments 384 (18,195)
FEEH Interest expense 9,175 29,443
HEWE BRERSZEZ Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
Eia, CEF) plant and equipment 3,208 (4,488)
A ERENRERA Dividend income from
available-for-sale investment (6,742) (1,680)
FIE U A Interest income (11,000) (20,452)
RIRARER Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 3,894 2,951
e B R AR 2 FR0E Amounts recovered from doubtful debts (498) (66)
M B AT MER Realisation of translation reserve
ZE S on deregistration of subsidiaries - (6,153)
MEERATRSE 26858 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
ZIEHERE on inter-company balances (461) 289
RETEEESBEF 2L Operating cash flows before movements
ERBER in working capital 596,683 398,503
FEE LM, R (Increase) decrease in inventories (412,416) 107,712
FEUBRFR R FEUR 248 (4290) (Increase) decrease in trade and bills receivables
D (526,640) 136,342
HAbEUBRFA R FBAS T (3E1N), (Increase) decrease in other debtors
W and prepayments (73,936) 9,665
FEATBRFR I FEST & ARG N, Increase (decrease) in creditors and
ORA) accrued charges 408,257 (27,178)
EEfEEZ () Be Cash (used in) generated from operations
KA (8,052) 625,044
ZAHEBREH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (2,957) (2,879)
F AT B RBE 2 R FTEH Enterprise Income Tax in Mainland China paid (76,651) (61,229)

EEERFRELE ZF(ZH),  Net cash (used in) from operating activities
HEWA (87,660) 560,936




LZABREFRER Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows

—E-EF —EENF
2010 2009
(g FExT FiE&xT
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
REXBMEEZRER Cash flows from investing activities
FRAZN={EA%IH Placement of short-term bank
FEHRSRATIF R deposits with maturity more than
three months (387,062) (156,456)
REZNE={EA%ZIH Withdrawal of short-term bank
ZIEERIT R deposits with maturity more than
three months 156,456 264,455
BEYE BRERZBEITS Purchase of property,
plant and equipment (165,126) (139,573)
WEEYE  BERZET 2 Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (28,234) (13,613)
BEAELEE Purchase of intangible assets (298) (14,400)
2WFIE Interest received 11,000 20,452
HEWHE - BERRZEM Proceeds from disposal of property,
Wz FRI8 plant and equipment 9,980 16,987
A ERENREBA Dividend received from
available-for-sale investment 1,680 -
WO EIEMRITER Decrease in pledged bank deposits = 12,764
BB AR - BRET Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
BAZESR cash and cash equivalents
HEEEBE acquired 33 = (5,845)
BREEKMEEZFRESEIH  Net cash used in investing activities (401,604) (15,229)
REXEBREEZRER Cash flows from financing activities
EEIRTER Bank loans raised 1,025,355 679,011
BITIRM TS RIE Proceeds from issue of shares 24,160 279,266
HEETESHTIEFE Net settlement of derivative
financial instruments 4,931 (613)
BIERITEN Repayment of bank loans (492,765) (1,050,388)
TRBRE Dividends paid (156,093) (123,942)
ZRHBLARZ Dividends paid to minority
DERRRE shareholders of subsidiaries (19,650) (18,327)
FAFFIE Interest paid (9,175) (29,443)
BITRGOER Share issue expenses (28) (6,815)
FATE BB Payment on repurchase of shares = (8,167)
RMEXEBREEZFRS Net cash from (used in) financing
WA () activities 376,735 (279,418)
FESRBESZHEED), Net (decrease) increase in cash and
N cash equivalents (112,529) 266,289
FUHzHERES Cash and cash equivalents at
£5 beginning of the year 729,386 455,258
EXSEMELECTE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,678 7,839
FREZRERES Cash and cash equivalents at end
£5 of the year 618,535 729,386
ReRBEESEHEIN Analysis of balances of cash and cash
equivalents
RITERRES Bank balances and cash 566,196 439,215
R=EAREH=Z Short-term bank deposits with
S HRER T 17K original maturity within
three months 52,456 290,313
RITEX Bank overdrafts (117) (142)
618,535 729,386
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=

Z—FH=H=+—H For the year ended 31 March 2010

——
#=

ARBR—BREBFEHRELAEERS
HEAMRLzHR AR HROREB
BMEXZAAERAR LN o AR R 27T
MERRTELXMBRAFRATNER
A -

FEMBREUEBTRES - MARARZI
3 E%Z‘%AE’%” RABREBTESH

E¥ZRE > RERAARRG IR
“"Fﬁtmz"%"a C MABDIREE
LRER o

RRABR-—EREERLQAF  EXENE
REARBHEREERE - 2R REBEH
¥ o

General

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands with its
shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information
to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars while the functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB"). The reason for selecting Hong Kong dollars as its presentation
currency is because the Company is a public company with the shares
listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its investors are located
in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture of and trading in solvents,
coatings and lubricants.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Applicationof NewandRevised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"s)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and

revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"s),

HKFRS,

amendments and interpretations (“INT"s) (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “new and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") which are or

have become effective.
HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)
HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

Presentation of financial statements

Borrowing costs

Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,

(Amendments) jointly controlled entity or associate
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vlesting conditions and cancellations
HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving disclosures about
financial instruments

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

HK(IFRIC*) - INT 9 & HKAS 39 Embedded derivatives

(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes

HK(IFRIC) - INT 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate

HK(IFRIC) - INT 16 Hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation

HK(IFRIC) - INT 18 Transfers of assets from customers

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008,
except for the amendment to HKFRS 5
that is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009 in relation to the amendment
to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39 and the
amendment to HKAS 1

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting Interpretations

Committee

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report



I RBIETE B ERE
ZHINEH®

BREAT Fraish - BRANET I8 R RIS RT BB B
BREEAHAEERPEARBASH
Bz BRRLBERTE -

&8 & ot 2 A0 S8 15R (#2 12 572007) Bt
BHRHIZT

EBBETEERSE15E (RIE712007) 51 EMTE
HEREERMBIRENEE RMERE
MR XERNT 2 EE -

eHTASKEYE(FEMEREER
ETRER TR - MR (EERT))

B BE R A7 (ST A LA A
ABHENSBTAAAETBFBOR
B 2B MEARBTABESE
CEE TR

KEBIBBHEATIICEMERRE
Mz HBRASETNER S EETHR
o
BRERESER (EB) BEMBRERAEST 2L
B ERR-ZRN\EBA
HBREER 2 0EN -

BRERESER (EB) R-ZRNEREMBRERR

L
BRERESER (EE) R-Z-ZEREMEREER
Y
BESHENENE (B8  BEALRE
BREMENEIS (EBY)  SARBUMBER

2.

HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of Newand Revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"s)

(Continued)

Except as described below, the adoption of those new and revised
HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current or prior accounting periods.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial
statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes including
revised titles for the consolidated financial statements and changes in
the format and content of the consolidated financial statements.

instruments
instruments:

Improving disclosures about financial
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 financial
disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in
relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial instruments
which are measured at fair value. The amendments also expand and
amend the disclosures required in relation to liquidity risk.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued but
are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs 2008"

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 20097

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 20103

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures’

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate

financial statements’



HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Rl REEETERUMBHRE 2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong

ZRMNER @ Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"s)
(Continued)
R ERENS fiRza % HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of rights issues®
(&85
BAEERIE0% AERHMER! HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items'
(&85
EsRREE BRREZED HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional exemptions for
B1R(E8) He first-time adopters*
EsRREEY BT RS HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited exemption from comparative
ELEAEC ) ETRHE T HKFRS 7 disclosures for first
REHEEF time adopters®
ZERAEHS
BEgHREEY SERSEENRG HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group cash-settled share-based
205 (83T) EANRR S payment transactions
] EHad HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations'
EEEC )]
] RIS HKFRS 9 Financial instruments?
9%
BB (EREHRE BEELEL HK(FRIC) - INT 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding
#EZE8) ELEE (Amendment) requirement’
RREUR(TET)
BB (EREHRE AREEEANE HK(FRIC) - INT 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners'
#EZE8) REEE
REEHR
BE(ERIHRE NERTAHHEH HK(FRIC) - INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with
#EZE8) B equity instruments®
BRI

1 RZZZhELA-BREEHBZ
FEEPEEXR

2 RZZBEZAFELE-—ARZZE—ZF
—A—B(UNBER)SEERBZFE
BRI 2B RT A

3 RZZE-ZELF-—HARZZE——F
—A—B(UNBERSEARBFE

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
and 1 January 2011, as appropriate

HREM

¢ RIE-ZEF-A-HRHZRKZ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
FEBBEN 2010

5 R-ZB-ZF_A—HARHZRKZ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
FEBBEN 2010

6 R-Z—ZFLtA-—HRIHEZHBZ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
FEHBENR

7 R-ZB——F—-A—HRHZRKZ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
FEBBEN 2011

¢ RIE-=F-A-BRHEMBZ
FEMBEN

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013
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2.

HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of Newand Revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"s)

(Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after
1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment
for changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets and will be effective
from 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted. The standard
requires all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement” to
be measured at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that (i) are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost. All
other debt investments and equity investments are measured at fair
value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009,
HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from 1 January
2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the amendments to
HKAS 17, lessees were required to classify leasehold land as operating
leases and presented as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The amendments have removed such
a requirement. Instead, the amendments require the classification of
leasehold land to be based on the general principles set out in HKAS
17, that are based on the extent to which risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee.

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used
by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority
interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s
share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is
able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
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BREBTSIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” are recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the
unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plantand equipmentincluding land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress and freehold land)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plantand equipment, other than construction in progress and freehold
land, over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of
their estimated residual value, using the straight line method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a prepaid lease payment
and released over a straight line basis over the lease term. During
the construction period, the amount of the leasehold land released
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings
under construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available
for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary
for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are mainly classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments
other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL, of which
interest income is included in net gains or losses.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are mainly derivative financial
instruments.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and bills receivables, other debtors, short-term bank deposits,
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments. The Group classified
equity investment held for an identified long term strategic purpose
as available-for-sale investment.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade debtors that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of debtors could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the credit period granted, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and other debtors, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade or other debtor is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into financial
liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL, of
which interest income is included in net gains or losses.



FESTEHER@®

SMT A
MBAREEE ()
BRARETARR ZHMBEEE

REBRAABFABERZUBEETE
RUTEERTA -

HEBTIRER  MEEERIERFHFE

= .

e FTWBrUMBEEFEARETAS
REEE ;

e BRAKEERREEZUHERT
BEEz—n BRHEELEH
ELREUEEFIAES =R

e BREEERFEAMEFNITET
Ho

BARERABBZHBRBERD ER
B ENFHEZOAERIRELLDH
BEEEREPHRET -

HAttfIHEE

Hitb A E(BEENTE - BYRE -
RITEXRBITEE) DBERIZERFRE
LU SERANET & o

HEm LA
RAREAT 2R T AUBWAERUE (K
MBREEEIBATRAR) FUREE - XORH
EAGEDE T ERNESERIREENR -
ROBEE - HE - BITREHLSER
TEAFERBHEPEIARENHESE -

HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL of the Group are mainly derivative financial
instruments.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing
in the near future;

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising on remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including creditors, bank overdrafts and
bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instrumentsissued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Company’s own
equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of
the hedged relationship.

Derivative that do not qualify for hedge accounting are deemed as
financial assets held for trading or financial liabilities held for trading.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of the cash flow
of floating-rate bank borrowings (i.e. interest rate swap contracts). At
the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, along
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the
hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the
hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as other gains or
losses.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Continued)
Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to profit or
loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or
loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
Any cumulative gain or loss accumulated in equity at that time remains
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and recognise a collateralised
borrowing for proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are
considered separately for the purpose of lease classification, unless
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and building elements, in which case, the entire contract is generally
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can
be made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as
operating leases and released over the lease term on a straight line
basis.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has
been passed.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the re-translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the group entities which are stated at
functional currency other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and
their income and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(the translation reserve). Exchange differences in relation to foreign
operations are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report

85



FESHBE®

SheE ()

REZZZHAFNA-HHNE - RBES
SEBRHMBBB TR EERE B
EECZEBUBTHENEEZHERA
REBRDEAAZEBIMNMEEXBCEE
REfE UERRBRERR2ERERET
FHE - BEECERZHIRNE LRERRE

N
o

RZZZHFNA—HZA  RREEES
EBEMUBBIRNEEREBEMESE
ZEBARBAURNEECHERAAE
BEDEWEENFEERE 2INERE - X
VAW BB AT — REVE L AN A B ©

EHEARE

WiE - REREEREREE(REARER
REBUEEHBEEARRAIRBEZE
BE)EREBLEENNTARSTEEZN
T HERSEEARTEZAREARE
FAHHERRL HEFEZEHRE
Sz RERANESEREEBEMA
AREBERERNMEZEERATHIE -

i S B AR T R S S R 1R 3
R -

MR

BIEXHEEFARRRERELERER
o

FERBLBETI R N 2 FERBUEFIFHE - FE
REENBIREES2ARERANZEZ
BR - HRFTERRBSN L A EE L
REMFESFBERRAABRER ZKWAR
X —EBERBRTERRZEE T
THREER - AEEABBBELIRRT
BRI E A ARFEIRTESL 2 BIRFTE -

HABIEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 April
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on acquisition of foreign operations before 1 April 2005
are treated as non-monetary foreign currency items of the acquirer
and reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date of the
acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income and
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.



FESTEHER@®

WA (@)
EERENERGEUBRBRETEERE
B AR & JE S AT H R AR B R R M Y FE R 1R
HEEHREZEMBEM 2 BARERTIE -
EEBEEE-—REANEERABREZ
ERER MELEREEERBERINA
BRAEMNBERB ENMERRK IR Y
RER - MAREINR S T ERER(E
EEVHRM AEBEEREE - BAKRY
ERBERN S S ENENTEMERY
BER ZEEREBEETEAR -

BRI 8 E TR M B A B 2 R E M 5|
HeERBIESZEMER e AREE
AR ER BRI R G ERE T
RURAT R REEE 2 B RARI - BR
ARG R A 2 ERBURR MUK EA R
REMBEZERMER2FE W EEE
MHERETHERARRGTEER - FHEIT
MBEEERAESE BEERIEEE ©

ELEBREEERESHENE - FER
SHARBERRN AR Z2REERERD
BRI AR R AERZBNEE

ELEBEARERRCHTRELELEH
TRBRE(RBE)HER - REHNEE
ZEERBERZEENBER 2R X
HoREBBREBEREEZERRASE
ERBEPRAHRCREEREERE
ERESHEAXTERZBBER - B
ERBRBEAER - MEHERNAMEE
WESEEREETRR IR E A6 B
BRI IR B AL 2 WS R E R
R ©

HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary difference
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.
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HABIEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged
as expenses when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Share options granted and vested before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the profit or
loss in respect of the value of options granted in that year. Upon the
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded
by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the
nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise
date are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Share options granted and vested on or after 1 April 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised as
an expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted
vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.
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HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make various estimates based on past experience, expectations of the
future and other information. The key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are discussed below.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. As at 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$71,462,000 (2009: HK$71,462,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 14.

Turnover and Segment Information

Turnover

Turnover represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold to customers during the year, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.
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HABIEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Turnover and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment information

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” with effect
from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and to assess their performance. In contrast,
the predecessor standard (HKAS 14, “Segment reporting”) required
an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical)
using a risks and returns approach, with the entity’s “system of
internal financial reporting to key management personnel” serving
only as the starting point for the identification of such segments.
In the past, the Group’s primary format was business segments.
The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation of
the Group’s operating segments as compared with the primary
operating segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14, nor has
the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of the measurement of
segment profit or loss.

For management purposes, the Group's operations are currently
classified under the following business divisions, namely solvents,
coatings, lubricants and others. These division are the basis on which
the Group reports its operating segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Solvents — manufacture of and trading in solvents and related
products

Coatings ~ — manufacture of and trading in coatings and related
products

Lubricants - manufacture of and trading in lubricants products

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of
interest income, dividend income, fair value change on derivative
financial instruments, gain or loss on disposal of corporate assets,
dividend income from available for sales investment, central
administration costs and interest expense. This is the information
reported to the Chief Executive Officer, the Group’s chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

5. Turnover and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and results by operating

FBEREEDFAOT ¢ segments for the year under review is as follows:
BE BH behp: Ht R RFEH &a
Segment
Solvents Coatings  Lubricants Others total  Elimination Consolidated
Tix TERL Thr Tix TERL THT ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z-2% Year ended 31 March
ZAZ+-HLEEE 2010
PR Segment revenue
e External sales 2,939,274 2,083,019 292,475 135974 5,455,742 - 5455742
PEEHE Inter-segment sales 89,719 - - - 89,719 (89,719) -
Fak Total 3,028,993 2,088,019 292,475 135,974 5,545,461 (89,719) 5,455,742
E Results
PEEE Segment result 327,044 181,534 7,568 14,039 530,185 (7,402) 522,783
fTESRMIA Fair value change on
DMrEZEL derivative financial
instruments (384)
RABBA Unallocated income 17,931
RAWER Unallocated expenses (14,557)
FISER Interest expense (9,175)
BB AR Profit before taxation 516,598
BE_ZTNE Year ended
ZB=+—RALEE 31 March 2009
PEEER Segment revenue
HoMEE External sales 2,898,851 1,852,881 257,446 80,753 5,089,931 - 5,089,931
PEEHE Inter-segment sales 77,712 - - - 771712 (77.712) -
B3 Total 2976563 1,852,881 257,446 80,753 5,167,643 (77,712) 5,089,931
E< Results
PEEE Segment result 212,682 128,112 (7,284) 6,101 339,611 371 339,240
fTESBIA Fair value change on
DrEZEL derivative financial
instruments 18,195
RABBA Unallocated income 35,455
KA EER Unallocated expenses (17,260)
FBER Interest expense (29,443)
BREARR Profit before taxation 346,187

R 2 HERA T INRA LIIR

BT

Inter-segment sales are charged at the similar terms as

outsiders.
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AR EMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

5.

EXBEREBIE @ 5. Turnover and Segment Information
(Continued)
EBEaBEE) Segment information (Continued)
(b) EUMEFH (b) Other information
THEBERENES EEERNIEE Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or
B segment assets:

HE-Z-2% Year ended 31 March
ZR=t-ALEE 2010
FRBEE Additions to non-current
AE (M) assets (note)
NE BERHRE  Deprediation of property,
ZiE plant and
equipment
SEGEEL & Release of prepaid lease
payments
NE BERRE  Impaiment loss of
ZHE property, plant
and equipment
BREEEH Amortisation of intangible
assets
HE /g Loss on disposal/written-
BERREZ off of property, plant
B8 and equipment
HE-ZTAE Year ended 31 March
ZRET-ALEE 2009
FRBEE Additions to non-current
B () assets (note) 35,846 141,773 3,146 2,656 183,421 6,664 190,085
NE BERHRE  Deprediation of property,
g plant and equipment 22,826 30,034 4518 123 57,501 2,348 59,849
BAHEEH Release of prepaid lease
payments 1,140 1,548 - - 2,688 335 3,023
NE BERZE  Impaiment loss of
ZREFE property, plant
and equipment 466 1,673 30 - 2,169 - 2,169
B ERRH Amortisation of intangible
assets 2,114 2,448 - - 4562 - 4562
HEME  BEREE  Loss (gain) on disposal of
2B/ () property, plant and
equipment 757 1,361 46 - 2,164 (6,652) (4,488)
Mzt FRBHEETEESHMIA - Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

EREIREERAT —TENZE-T-TFEFH




HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

5. BEBRERS B @ 5. Turnover and Segment Information
(Continued)
R\ (#E) Segment information (Continued)
(0 FEEREBRIENHIBEERSE (c) Ananalysis of the Group’s segment assets and segment liabilities
BE25WT : by business segments is as follows:
AHE 723 bbb Hith &8
Solvents Coatings Lubricants Others  Consolidated
T T THET T THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RIS-2% At 31 March 2010
=ZR=+—-H
BE Assets
PEEE Segment assets 1,684,854 1,564,038 156,512 22,653 3,428,057
HitkHEEE Other unallocated assets 1,052,811
REREE Consolidated total assets 4,480,868
af Liabilities
PEEE Segment liabilities 559,947 356,713 49,170 14,982 980,812
FEH Taxation payable 78,096
EEFEEE Deferred tax liabilities 6,838
HikAEAE Other unallocated liabilities 1,087,884
FRBEE Consolidated total liabilities 2,153,630
RISSAE At 31 March 2009
ZA=+-H
BE Assets
PEEE Segment assets 973,934 1,166,115 151,510 14,993 2,306,552
HitkHEEE Unallocated assets 933,229
REBEE Consolidated total assets 3,239,781
af Liabilities
2EEE Segment liabilities 262,498 253,432 45,382 43,983 605,295
FEH Taxation payable 75,360
EEFEEE Deferred tax liabilities 7,175
HikAEAE Other unallocated liabilities 526,075
FRBEE Consolidated total liabilities 1,213,905
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HABIEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Turnover and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

(d) For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to business segments other than
short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
derivative financial instruments, tax recoverable and the
unallocated assets; and

° all liabilities are allocated to business segments other than
taxation payable, deferred tax liabilities, dividend payable
to aminority shareholder of a subsidiary, derivative financial
instruments, bank borrowings and bank overdrafts and
the unallocated liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers for the year was
substantially generated from customers located in the Mainland
China (place of domicile of the group entities that derive turnover)
amounting to HK$5,286,925,000 (2009: HK$4,835,670,000).
Substantial all of the Group’s non-current assets excluding financial
instruments were also located in the Mainland China (place of
domicile of the group entities that hold such assets) amounting to
HK$1,077,475,000 (2009: HK$968,981,000).

Major customers

No individual customer of the Group has contributed over 10% of
the turnover of the Group for each of the year ended 31 March 2009
or 2010.



HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

EEMEREEME 6. Directors’ Remuneration and Employees’
Emoluments

ENSENATFISR(ZEZTNEF 138)E The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2009: 13) directors

EMemT : were as follows:

A RRE BT G TER EeE BRR 28R BER ERT ERM) 2ER AEF 48
Ip Yip Ng Wong  Young i Tong Au-Yeung li
(ChiShing, Ip TozHin SuPing, ~ Ting KamYim, ManKim, WaiMan, WuiTung, ~ Wong TsanPong, ChakMan, ~Ku'Yuen
Tony FungKuen Stephen  George HonYam  Kemny  Robert  Peter Romald KongChi  Davie  Chuck Fun,Andy  Total
Thr Tér TEn Tér TEn T Tér TEn TEr TEr TEn TEr TEr TEn
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKFO00  HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKSO00 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

oE-%f 2010
FELE Fegs 400 400 400 400 40 400 400 400 295 460 184 184 0 463
Hfthe Other emoluments
EERAvER Slares and other beneis 36 13 29 B 8 18 18 1B - - - - - 135
FeARENAR IR Discetonarybonus M W 100 70 W0 1% N0 8 - - - - -5
WRAZH Share-ased paymens woowoow oW oW W W W - - - - -1
IR Retitament benefitscheme
contrbutons 163 108 183 116 116 133 13 v - - - - - 10
fiea Total emoluments 40% 219 4112 2706 2041 4006 2312 29% 295 460 184 184 30 25998
k3 2009
FELE Fees 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 30 500 200 200 150 4510
Hfhe Other emoluments
FAREVER Salares and other benefits 3336 1464 233 1367 140 1% 1558 14% - - - - - 145%
FatlERENIR 2L Discreionary bonus - - - 1 - 0w - - - - -
PLVET| Shere-based payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - - - - B ]
BARRG B Retitament benefitscheme
contrbutons 1 m 156 126 126 144 144 5 - - - - - 1066
ficat Total emoluments 3932000 299 241 45 36 212 233 30 500 200 200 150 261
Ff5 Notes
@ EZZHERLAHEMEINEBELE (@) The directors’ salaries and other benefits above included operating leases
& £1,560,0008 T(Z =T hF: rentals of HK$1,560,000 (2009: HK$1,560,000).

1,560,000/ 7T ) ©

(b)  FBHMEREFSEB2IEANSEFER (b)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the operating
BzRE s, MARBRRBHERTIZZ5 results, individual performance and comparable market statistics during
STEIEMIRE © the year.

O WR-ZZAF+AER AAAEHEH (0 On 5 October 2009, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,700,000
1,700,00013 ( = Z = 1L & : 800,00017 ) B8 (2009: 800,000) share options to certain directors of the Company. In
REFAQNTZETES -HREER = relation to share options granted before 1 April 2005, they were vested
ZERFMA—AAREZBRES A= before 1 April 2005 and therefore has had no financial impact to the
ZTHFEWNB—RARE  BURESE Group in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions of HKFRS 2
B RS R AR B SE 245" LARRAD AT FRIE " 2 “Share-based payment”.

HEBER - HAREBIL TERI B
& o
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BREBTSIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

6. EEMEREEME @ 6. Directors’ Remuneration and Employees’
Emoluments (continued)

SuFHMBSEEFIMUAERARNESR(ZE Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,

ZNEF  My) EMEFHFBEERNR L - H four (2009: four) were directors of the Company whose emoluments

ML 2 EHHBEEST ¢ are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining one individual

were as follows:

—E-BF ZTENF
2010 2009
FExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
HERHETER Salaries and other benefits 3,481 4,480
ERBRIFT B Retirement benefit scheme contribution 84 84
3,565 4,564
7. NEER 7. Interest Expense

—E-—ZF ZEThF
2010 2009
FExT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEERBEFREH Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable
EIBEZIRITIEE within five years 9,175 29,443

96 ER(CIEEERAT —BENE_T-TEEESH




HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

BR# A 2 A 8. Profit before Taxation
—E-%F —TTNF
2010 2009
TEx FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
MREADEF S HR Profit before taxation has been arrived
THEE: at after charging:
B EE#N Amortisation of intangible assets 4,522 4,562
ZERME Auditors’ remuneration
—-RFE — current year 4,236 4,228
—IF(Z)DREE — (over)underprovision in prior year (277) 160
WE - BMERERMHEZITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 67,476 59,849
E - BERREEZ Impairment loss of property,
AR plant and equipment 991 2,169
HE FHEYE  BER Loss on disposal/written off of property,
REZER plant and equipment 3,208 -
M2 EEBLN Operating lease payments in respect of
TATRIE rented premises 16,540 12,715
FEf i E Release of prepaid lease payments 2,995 3,023
ETIRAEIE Staff costs, including directors’
EEE (FzE6) remuneration (note 6) 425,376 389,227
WG ATHIER and after crediting:
FEURA Interest income 11,000 20,452
AHHEREN Dividend income from available-for-sale
REWA investment 6,742 1,680
HEME BER Gain on disposal of property,
B plant and equipment - 4,488
THIE R s Net exchange gain 4,370 5,910
FEFTMIWA Net processing fee income 6,400 11,664
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HABIEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Taxation

—E-TF ZETNF
2010 2009
FExT FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITHIE - BB Current tax — Hong Kong
TEE Current year 1,689 941
FED(Z)RBE Under(over)provision in previous years 2,528 7)
4,217 934
RITHIIE — AR KR Current tax — Mainland China
KEE Current year 78,630 78,830
AF(Z)DRBE (Over)underprovision in previous years (502) 2,746
78,128 81,576
82,345 82,510
IEAERIE (7£24) Deferred taxation (note 24)
aE Hong Kong
- REE — current year 220 287
—BREH o TE — attributable to change in tax rate = (110)
220 177
AL AR Mainland China (557) (542)
(337) (365)
82,008 82,145

RZZZENFARAZ+ARB BBILLEE
BB_TTNFWAKRGER  FLEF
BRBERITS%ERE65% H-F
EN/ZEENFRBEFEREN -
It BEBFERBRAEEMERTETR
16.5%5T = °

BRI E R REFFEB AT REREHR
E D REEFEFEEREA - T EKB
RAZBERAZZZENF-A-—BESR
25% °

RAEEAESEZAKEMNBLARAEZERS
TRBEHMRBBER - RETEAREERH
ERERBN - ARATETHEARREMEQ
BAAEREMERBESENCFEER
RPEREREREH  MARLEPE
REMEXBEAEERAR=FHPEKR
BEREFERE0NER - PEAEE
EFBHRENFTARERBEDRME LR
e

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the
Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate from
17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009.
Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of Mainland China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are eligible for
certain tax holidays and concessions. Pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations in Mainland China, certain subsidiaries of the Company in
Mainland China are entitled to exemption from enterprise income tax
of Mainland China for the first two years commencing from their first
profit-making year of operation and thereafter, these subsidiaries in
Mainland China will be entitled to a 50% relief from enterprise income
tax of Mainland China for the following three years. Enterprise income
tax of Mainland China has been provided for after taking these tax
incentives into account.
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HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Taxation (Continued)

Hh R RE 2 RIENREBREEEZ Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
BERABENE - in the relevant jurisdictions.
BEFERIE X HEROT ¢ A statement of reconciliation of taxation is as follows:
—E-ZF —TTNEF
2010 2009
FER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RRFL AR A Profit before taxation 516,598 346,187
LAZR 3 P8 Fi 2= Tax charge at the domestic income tax
25% (=ZZBENF : rate of 25% (2009: 25%) 129,150 86,547
25%):tE
EFEVRREE Underprovision in previous years 2,026 2,739
AR A B X Tax effect of expenses not deductible
BBz E for tax purposes 16,178 12,593
AT U A Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (15,778) (15,248)
Bz g
RF R IEEE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 18,836 19,408
B2 LB
A ZAIRERTIE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
S Eap b ol previously not recognised (6,507) (1,188)
REAMEEEZ Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
M@ QBT EH R in other jurisdictions (759) (485)
a7
EAHMB AT Z Effect of income tax on tax exemption for
BgsRezE certain subsidiaries (46,442) (13,374)
M B AT 2R R Effect of income tax on concessionary rates for
Bz E certain subsidiaries (17,222) (5,535)
BAREREBEY 2 Tax effect on opening deferred tax liabilities
FYRLEHRIEEE resulting from changes in applicable tax rate = (110)
R
Hith Others 2,526 (3,202)
REEBIER Taxation for the year 82,008 82,145
AR Fr i8R T A AR E B K IBD ETEFT The domestic income tax rate is a tax rate in the jurisdiction where the
EAEME 2B o operation of the Group is substantially based.
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10. RE 10. Dividends
—E2-2F ZTTNF
2010 2009
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REREIRHIRE Dividend recognised as distribution
ZBE during the year:
—E-ZFHH 2010 interim dividend of HK12.0 cents
BRE 8K (2009: 2009 interim dividend of
12.0784L HK8.0 cents) per share 64,831 43,115
—ERENEF
—EENFHEH
R EER8.081l)
—EZThFHR 2009 final dividend of HK17.0 cents
RE B8R (2009: 2008 final dividend of
17.07%841 HK15.0 cents) per share
—RENEF
—ZE\FHR
R EER15.0840) 91,262 80,827
156,093 123,942
ESSEBRRREE-_Z-ZHE=-A=1+ The final dividend of HK20.0 cents per share totalling not less than
—BLEEEZREESR20.0E > B£58 HK$110,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2010 has
4 5110,000,000/8 5T » MIFRRIER R been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
AFKELREES - shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

1. BREF 11. Earnings per Share
ARRREZSEEASRERARBEERE The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
FTIRBE T IERE to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—E-FF ZEThF
2010 2009
FHERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ANATIRREMLFARE  Profit for the year attributable to owners of
STEERERR the Company and earnings for the purposes of
BERRAZEF calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 378,064 224,228
RO EE
Number of shares
T T8
‘000 ‘000
STESRER Weighted average number of shares for the
BRIz eI R & purpose of calculating basic earnings per share 538,009 535,628
TREERIEEZ Effect of dilutive potential shares:
HEEE . BRE Share options 8,448 3,610
TESREEER Weighted average number of shares for the
BRIz eI R & purpose of calculating diluted earnings
per share 546,457 539,238

Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited 2009-2010 Annual Report




BREBTSIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

12. W% - BEREE 12. Property, Plant and Equipment
B %ER
FEEETR AXXEid BF WOERE nE BERES fif
Furniture,
Construction fixtures
in Freehold and office Motor Plant and
progress land Buildings ~ equipment vehicles  machinery Total

FiEn TR TiBn FiEn TiEn FiEgn TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B¥E AT COST
RZZENFMA-H At 1 April 2008 47,721 4,041 420,902 86,411 53,530 403846 1,016,457
MELEZE Currency realignment 584 (481) 5374 707 621 4,935 11,740
b Reclassification (13,410) - 6,676 2,391 - 4343 -
AE Additions 85,127 - 573 12,029 8,113 40427 146,269
WERBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - 11,915 191 365 9217 21,688
HE Disposals - - (15,174) (2,309) (9,788) (4,891) (32,162)
WZEZAEZA=1+—-A  At31March2009 120,028 3,560 430,266 99,420 52,841 457,877 1,163,992
NELEER Currency realignment 264 354 933 110 105 1014 2,780
ENNE Reclassification (144,827) - 114,469 2,888 - 27,470 -
HE Additions 41,481 - 7317 8473 11,195 110,273 178,739
HE Disposals/written off - - (12,094) (11,649) (7,226) (16,896) (47,865)
WZE-ZE=A=1+-A  At31March2010 16,946 3914 540,891 99,242 56,915 579,738 1,297,646
HEREEER DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
WZZ2Z\EMA-H At 1 April 2008 - 1,068 112,783 59,234 28,679 140,528 342,292
PMELEZE Currency realignment - (127) 1487 387 291 1,764 3,802
FRBE Depreciation provided

for the year - - 16,749 8,814 5,995 28,291 59,849
FRHEEE Impairment loss

for the year - - - 226 10 1,933 2,169
HEREH Eliminated on disposals - - (6,334) (2,065) (7,476) (3,788) (19,663)
WZEZAEZA=+—-A  At31March 2009 - 941 124,685 66,596 27,499 168,728 388449
NELEER Currency realignment - 93 307 Ig] 37 646 1,126
FhiktE Depreciation provided

for the year - - 19,098 10,003 6,190 32,185 67476
FREBER Impairment loss

for the year - - 329 - - 662 991
HE /RS Eliminated on disposals/

written off - - (9,291) (9,730) (6,001) (9,655) (34,677)
WZE-ZE=A=1+-A  At31March2010 - 1,034 135,128 66,912 27,725 192,566 423,365
RESE CARRYING VALUES
RZZ-ZFZA=t-H  At31March 2010 16,946 2,880 405,763 32,330 29,190 387,172 874,281
WZEZAEZA=+—-A  At31March2009 120,028 2,619 305,581 32,824 25,342 289,149 775,543
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12. 1% - RERZHE® 12. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
EXfrimoE - MERREEE IUE The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on
BOERUT FRINE ¢ a straight line basis at the following rates per annum:

KAFERE L i Freehold land Nil
BT 2.5% KU 2 ek Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
FH UBEETE term of the lease or 2.5%
B HER 4.5%%25% Furniture, fixtures and 4.5% 10 25%
MAERME office equipment
RE 9%%E25% Motor vehicles 9% t0 25%
EESE 6%ZE20% Plant and machinery 6% to 20%
FR AEERENE BERREET During the year, the Group conducted a review on the property, plant
TR IHESsZESEERERIEER and equipment and determined that a number of those assets were
REMZEMTEHBRRE - Bl W% K impaired, due to the physical damage and technical obsolescence.
ERFBEE D BIERRERE329,0008 T Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$329,000 (2009: nil) and
(ZZ2ZNF  E)K662,0008T(=FF HK$662,000 (2009: HK$1,933,000) have been recognised in respect
JUE 11,933,000 7T) c BE=_ZENEF of buildings and plant and machinery respectively. For the year ended
ZA=+—HLEEE M - EERHEQ 31 March 2009, impairment losses of HK$226,000 (2010: nil) and
ERERAED 2 BIERREEEE226,000 HK$10,000 (2010: nil) was recognised in respect of furniture, fixtures
BT(ZE—ZF  ®)K10,0008T(=F and office equipment and motor vehicles.
—ZF  |\) o
—E-ZF —EThF
2010 2009
FTET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000

EBZYERZRSBIE © The Group’s property interests comprise:

BRUIMEBEREEZ Freehold land held outside Hong Kong
KR EERE L 2,880 2,619

R 2FHERLTF ©  Buildings located on land:

EEBEEZ: Held in Hong Kong under:
— FHEE medium-term leases 10,402 10,922
EEBUIMEE Held outside Hong Kong under:
BEZ:
- REEE Long leases 303 383
— HHEE Medium-term leases 386,769 284,814
- e Short-term leases 8,289 9,462

408,643 308,200
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13. B LS 13. Prepaid Lease Payments
—2-2F —TTNEF
2010 2009
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEEM L The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:
HEeE
EBEE2HELH ¢ Leasehold land in Hong Kong under:
— RS Medium-term leases 11,567 11,878
EBUMBEIFEZ ¢ Leasehold land outside Hong Kong under:
- REEE Long leases 1,269 1,293
— RS Medium-term leases 98,675 101,140
111,511 114,311
DMERE AR Analysed for reporting purposes as:
BN Current asset 2,722 2,608
IEmENEBD Non-current asset 108,789 111,703
111,511 114,311
14. 8 14. Goodwill
&t
Total
T
HK$'000
2% AT COST
RZZZNFMEA—H -+ At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010
—EThEF
ZA=t—BRK
—E-FF
=BA=+—8 71,462
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REBEHBBHEDIREBREIRE
EHERZEBEHIRIECREELE
UREELEN | HECKREEESE
W

HZABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

14. Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGU"s) that are expected
to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of
goodwill had been allocated as follows:

—E-FF —ZETNF

2010 2009

FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

HERBEEARE Manufacture of and trading in solvents 59,479 59,479
HEREERR Manufacture of and trading in coatings 10,095 10,095
BEREEBNBEH Manufacture of and trading in lubricants 1,888 1,888
71,462 71,462

REBE-Z-ZF=A=1+—-HLEFE"
FEECEEERABERECREESE
BYIWHEFE o

ReELEBUzIRESENZRAGHE
EmMEE - ftEEAEERRKAZEZER
RIORBEHARNZTRE BERERTEHHE
EBREERNEEIMER - EEEMN
ARMRETSTHES 2 FEEERZ
ReELBNMEHERHALLREHE
RE - EREDENEERZIERETER
MmEH - HEEREEMR 2B EAIRE
BAEFIRFEIAETS 2 E(LMEE

RREMMGZEN  AEERREEERE
HEZEBRIPUBRRESHZRRE
FRERM AEAERBREEI140% (=
ZEENF137%) RRTEREHE
HMEBENTERREESEURERR 2
M ERAKBETRCERTAA  BF
BENF2%E12% (ZFEFNEF 1 0%E
20%) 7% - REMBIEFTERE -

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the management of the
Group determines that there is no impairment of any of its CGUs
containing goodwill.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth
forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

Forimpairment assessment purpose, the Group performed impairment
review for goodwill based on cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets for the next five years for each CGUs
approved by management using a discount rate of 14.0% (2009:
13.7%) which reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates per
annum range from 2% to 12% (2009: zero to 20%) in light of the
Group's industry growth forecasts. No impairment loss was considered
necessary.
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/>, .
15. B EE 15. Intangible Assets
b3 THEhH EFEF BERmAE At
Non- Trademarks
Technical competition Customer and
knowhow covenants relationship ~ patent brands Total
TER TET FER TET FER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
%3 AT COST
R-ZZENFNA—H At 1 April 2008 5,935 14,545 - - 20,480
WEHE AR Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary - 811 - - 811
B Additions 2,633 - 9,573 2,19 14,400
NELEZEE Currency realignment 11 183 - - 194
R-EEAE=R=+-H At 31 March 2009 8,579 15,539 9,573 2,19 35,885
B Additions 298 - - - 298
NEHEESE Currency realignment 5 34 - - 39
RZZ-ZF=A=+-H  At31March2010 8,882 15,573 9,573 2,194 36,222
e AMORTISATION
R-ZENFNA—H At 1 April 2008 5,086 975 - - 6,061
FREE Provided for the year 372 2,677 1,330 183 4,562
NELEZEE Currency realignment 1 3 - - 4
R-EEAE=R=+-H At 31 March 2009 5,459 3,655 1,330 183 10,627
FREE Provided for the year 589 2,366 1,379 188 4,522
NELEEESE Currency realignment 1 12 - - 13
RZB-FF=ZA=+-H  At31March 2010 6,049 6,033 2,709 37 15,162
BERE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-ZEF=A=+-H At 31 March 2010 2,833 9,540 6,864 1,823 21,060
RZBZAE=A=1-H At 31 March 2009 3,120 11,884 8,243 2,011 25,258
LB EELAERERFH - ZEF The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
EEDRABGEN T 2B IERE assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the following
HReN - periods:
Bl N8 5-10%F Technical knowhow 5-10 years
THEH=R 3-10% Non-competition covenants 3-10 years
EFHEE 6%F Customer relationship 6 years
Gy 105 Trademarks and patents brands 10 years
RATAMEAREEE=FWBEEREETR Technical knowhow represents technical knowledge and techniques
FhEERNEERMAMER R - acquired from independent third parties to manufacture certain

insulating varnish and ink products.
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15. B EE @) 15. Intangible Assets (continued)
THEHBERRNVUE Q FE BRH WU Non-competition covenants represent the right to restrict the vendors
AANHEEFRNFIZ10F 2B EFHT of acquirees, after acquisition of the entities, to carry on the same
At BB - business for specific periods ranging from 3 to 10 years.
EFBEADEZEFERBERANYERE Customer relationship represents the customers, which are buying
tt#m RBEFREMEFER2EA specialised types of paint and thinner used in audio visual equipment,
BBRAEK - cosmetics, mobile phone and other electronic products.
BERREEZERANBEERIKEZM Trademarks and patent brands represent the brand names acquired
BEE ZERERTERAESERTR which have high recognition and awareness in the market.
BHEE o
16. It HERE 16. Available-for-sale Investment
—E-TF ZETNF
2010 2009
FER FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FELETRAES Unlisted equity interest in Mainland China,

R AN (B at cost less impairment loss 12,387 12,360
ARG ZERESEAREREZE The above investment represents investment in unlisted equity interest
Z2BEREZHEERE  MELMREFE and is measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
BIELTRHP, RXARZEERBRETSE period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
EEE N AE  BULRBRARBRARS significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
R ZBEE - the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

17. HtbERBEE 17. Other Non-current Asset
HWEENIEREEREEMESFZ2RAAR The amount represents the cost of club debenture held by the Group
REBERR(WNA)ZRAR R EHRERIE and is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, at
FTE - the end of the reporting period.
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18.

19.

FE 18. Inventories
—E-ZF —EEAEF
2010 2009
FExT Fi&x
HK$’000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 515,439 197,845
EEm Work in progress 42,524 31,327
B M Finished goods 242,904 157,687
800,867 386,859
= - .
YRR R BN EE 19. Trade and Bills Receivables
—E-ZF —EEAEF
2010 2009
FExT Fi&xT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEUERTR Trade receivables 1,047,072 711,981
W RIEARER Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (29,581) (31,257)
1,017,491 680,724
ERERE Bills receivables 341,154 152,267
1,358,645 832,991

RSP REURARERRIE 2 R
AT -

An aged analysis of trade and bills receivables at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

—E-ZF —EZNEF

2010 2009

FEx FiE&xT

HK$’000 HK$'000

SZE={EA 0 — 3 months 1,054,352 614,045
e (=] 4 — 6 months 225,472 166,963
NMER U L Over 6 months 78,821 51,983
1,358,645 832,991

FEERFOHEBRERFRMEMA30KED
R2fEEH BRNGEEHIARFANG
BREFZRPIRERZEF -

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days to its
trade customers. A longer credit period may be granted to large or
long established customers with good payment history.
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19. EWERA R EWEE @)

19. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

EEREAHEFAH - AEEXIRERF
RHESTHEERFP2ER  EE8E
I EEEEEAENEFEEEERA
REEEM BEFZRESEHEM - K
#66% (ZZENF : 65%) BEHRNFHE
2 FEW AR AN SR B AT IR A 2 15 R RTAR )
EZBREMRFNSD -

AEERKERRERZBHRETENE
W BR X » 48 BRE 8 5462,101,00058 T (=
TENE 1294,707,000587T) » TR o
ZECRYPZERRRCH R ERELR
BRALRARKEFNZE/R Wit
AEETERZERBEFELREBER
o REERZSHBLEFFEMIER

_
AR °

RB|EHR - S BB EEREZ ERERR
REWRIEZREDNAT

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an internal
credit control system to assess the potential customers’ credit quality
and the board of directors has delegated the management shall be
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals for
customers. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.
Approximately 66% (2009: 65%) of the trade and bills receivables
are neither past due nor impaired as they were assessed to be of
good credit rating attributable under the credit control system used
by the Group.

Included in the Group's trade and bills receivables are past due
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$462,101,000 (2009:
HK$294,707,000). These past due debtors are all closely monitored
and by past experience, they will eventually settle their debts, so the
Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables, which
are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period
based on the invoice date:

—E-ZF —EENF

2010 2009

FExT Fi&xT

HK$'000 HK$'000

TE=EA 0 - 3 months 205,009 100,799
eSS ] 4 — 6 months 178,271 141,925
NMER L Over 6 months 78,821 51,983
462,101 294,707

EEERYIRR 2 TR E MR - BERA
REOGEEERHRAY  FAEEEERR
RAGEAEZZAENEE - ARAFESR
B REFME  ARBEYEEARERE
ERER  BBARERZEREFDE -

In determining the recoverability of the trade debtors, the Group
monitors any change in the credit quality of the trade debtors since
the credit was granted and up to the reporting date. The directors
of the Company considered that the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number
of counterparties and customers.
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19. EWERA R EWEE @)

RIFIRAEM -

19. Trade and Bills Receivables (continueq)

Allowance for doubtful debts:

—E-ZF —EThE

2010 2009

FER FHBT

HK$'000 HK$'000

RMA—H At 1 April 31,257 32,257
INEAEEELE Currency realignment 78 456
HRZREEE Impairment losses recognised 3,894 2,951

T AW E 2 FRIE Amounts written off as uncollectible (5,150) (4,341)

AAFEERREZFRIE  Amounts recovered during the year (498) (66)
W=A=+—H At 31 March 29,581 31,257

B ER R 2 TR E 1 - AEBEE
BRARUEEE HEE®RE QB LEEYR
RERERZEMEE  HEAKREEZM
RERXGE%E  WHRERNERRE XY
TSN & 2 AR HRE - REBFZ
EEBRUBSEEMERR

BIERFE R BR TR FE I E 48 962,437,000
BIL(ZFZEAE 31,551,000 7T) » B
WRERTEEBERE - EABIRS
22— AEERZERRERZESERE
EERITIRMEERER - At - REBEE
BHENREEEESNERRRREKZE
BRUEEEMERCESRIABER
MiEF23) ZZIH o

R-ZBE-ZF=ZA=+—0 " EFEHE
ERARCCEERREEC2KEEBS
62,437,000/ T (ZZEZAF : 31,551,000
B T) o M8 & 2 IRE{E 562,437,000/
T(ZZZNE 1 31,551,000 7T) °

YRR ERREaET I UG
NEEXAEN 2B REN 2R

In assessing the recoverability of the trade debtors, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade debtors from
the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date, their
payment and trading records with the Group. In addition, impairment
is made for trade debtors that have been placed under liquidation or
in severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Included in trade and bills receivables of HK$62,437,000 (2009:
HK$31,551,000) which have been discounted to the banks with
recourse. As part of the transfer, the Group provided the bank with
a credit guarantee over the expected losses of those receivables.
Accordingly, the Group continues to include these discounted bills
under trade and bills receivables and has recognised the cash received
on the transfer as borrowings (see note 23) until maturity.

At 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of the transferred bills
receivables pledged as security for the borrowings is HK$62,437,000
(2009: HK$31,551,000). The carrying amount of the associated
liability is HK$62,437,000 (2009: HK$31,551,000).

Included in trade and bill receivables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities:

—E-TF —EThEF

2010 2009

FER FHBT

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT Hong Kong dollars 5,596 5,063
ESy United States dollars ("USD") 10,466 3,732




20. fTEE®TIT A

HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

20. Derivative Financial Instruments

—E-ZF —EERF
2010 2009
FTET FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
DehetiiREZ Derivatives under hedge accounting
TETIR
FZEZHEH Interest rate swap contracts (283) -
HthfTETR Other derivatives
(GELL S &EEHEREE)  (not under hedge accounting)
SMERIEHN Foreign exchange forward contracts (447) 4,868
(730) 4,868

LReREHbZHERRESH
BE-Z-ZF=ZA=+—-HLEFE &
EEESHFERTILZSENEZEHS
B BEBSFHNRERBETENR &
HEERTZETERZIERTERZRE
RBEEEERE - ZEEH 2 IRREE
AR B IR TR E 2R — (AR AT
BEZASHEEE  BERFRERIIHE
[) c EERANERHMENESHE T
B WREBHNHETEEERSIARR
EREBHHPTHE -

RPN EREBcRERBRMEMS B
FASEEM HE-_T-THF=A=+
—HIEFE - AREER283,0008 TRE
fhEHEWREARILREREEZRN - ES
EHME PR SAXEARBENNRE
EZEENER  ARABABRESER

REBEZE-_Z-ZF=A=1+—HILEFE "
#130,0008 T2 A ABBBEBERGS
ZEBRERPHNBERA o

Interest rate swap contracts under cash flow hedges

The Group entered into a number of interest rate swap contracts with
the commercial banks to minimise its exposure to cash flow changes
of its floating-rate USD bank borrowings from the same banks by
swapping floating interest rates to fixed interest rates during the year
ended 31 March 2010. The terms of these contacts were negotiated
to match with those of the hedged bank borrowings with the same
notional amounts to principal amounts of bank borrowings, currency
and interest rate index. The directors consider that the interest
rate swap contracts are highly effective hedging instruments and
have designated them as cash flow hedging instruments for hedge
accounting purpose.

The hedges were highly effective in hedging cash flow exposure to
interest rate movements. Fair value losses of HK$283,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2010 have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity. The directors expected the
accumulated sum is to be released to profit or loss when the hedged
interest expenses were charged to profit or loss till the maturity of
those contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a fair value loss of approximately
HK$130,000 was included in the finance costs in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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20. fTEEMI B

RIEBKR MF3MEEZRIT
BEEERREAEHHAETZRIT
& 7%17,930,000 7t ( 46 % 74139,209,000
BIL) > MZERESREBEFET ZFIRE
HMENZEERTWT :

HABEHMEMET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

20. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Included in bank borrowings as disclosed in note 23 were bank loans
of USD17,930,000 (equivalent to HK$139,209,000) which were
under cash flow hedges and the major terms of the interest rate swap
contracts under cash flow hedges at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

H{E ZH R WELE B THRES
Notional amount Maturity Receive floating Pay fixed
R-E-FF=A=+—H

At 31 March 2010

1,317,000 7T —E-EF+A+NA En—BR ZmBURITRIZEREM0.6/E 1442
UsD1,317,000 18.10.2010 USD 1-month LIBOR* plus 0.6% 1.44%
913,000 7T —E-EF+A=+HA En—1BA 2 mBERITRIZEREM0.6/E 1.36E
USD913,000 25.10.2010 USD 1-month LIBOR plus 0.6% 1.36%
3,822,000% 7T —2-ZF+—A=AR En—1BA 2 mBERITRIZER EM0.6/E 1.30E
USD3,822,000 3.11.2010 USD 1-month LIBOR plus 0.6% 1.30%
1,475,0003 7T —E-EF+—ANA En—BA ZmBURITRIZEREM0.6/E 1.29E
UsD1,475,000 9.11.2010 USD 1-month LIBOR plus 0.6% 1.29%
1,550,0003 7T —E——%=ZA=+—H En={ER 2 mBIRITRZEREM1.09E 1.932
UsD1,550,000 21.3.201 USD 3-month LIBOR plus 1.09% 1.93%
4,600,000 7T —E-——%=A=+=H E=188 2 mBIRITREREM1.09E 1.98E
USD4,600,000 23.3.2011 USD 3-month LIBOR plus 1.09% 1.98%
4,253,000 7T —Z——%=F=+HH En—BA ZmRBURTRIZEREM.5E 222
USD4,253,000 25.3.2011 USD 1-month LIBOR plus 1.50% 2.22%

REBZENFZAZ+—B A5ELE
AP REREH N RFREREY
HIRT ZFREHEY -

FENZERENIERIMEL—FR
ZREER -

SHEEERASH
KAEEERILETFHEEREN - R=F
—ZFEZR=+—-H ZEEHNZLRE
B RE 23840008 THERE(ZZEZE N
F : 18,195,000 7t )@ Fl ) B RB & R
R ZEENBRBDATIWEREN
REUETER - AREMITYHESH
BOERHNERYESHERIBABENZET
RITER AEEIEEFEZ2—BH - &
EREREHEHIETSHZEE - K
EEEES-ANEZHRIIERETR
EEEZER - Bt - BEESHNE—Z
BEBHHERNIEERSNETHET
BEEEL RN IER  BZEEANRER
BRRBABNDISHEL S 2P -

* LIBOR represents London Interbank Offered Rate.

The Group did not have outstanding interest rate swap contracts
under cash flow hedges at 31 March 2009.

Allinterest rate swap contracts were classified as current with maturity
date within one year.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

The Group entered into a number of foreign exchange forward
contracts. As at 31 March 2010, the change in fair value of
these contracts recorded a loss of HK$384,000 (2009: a gain of
HK$18,195,000) was recognised in profit or loss. The majority of these
contracts are non-deliverable forward contracts and will be settled in
USD. Such contracts were entered into as part of the Group’s treasury
operation for the purpose of capturing the price differential between
the spot and forward foreign currency exchange markets by entering
into bank loan arrangements that were denominated in USD with
the similar amounts and maturity dates on a one by one basis. Each
of these arrangements, when contracted by the Group, will lock in a
pre-determined return. Accordingly, although the valuation of each
of these foreign exchange forward contracts may give rise to a gain
or loss at a particular date within the term of the respective contract,
such gain or loss will eventually be substantially offset by each of
these arrangements.
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RI|BEHR - NEERE 2 5 R WINE

BERENASRBEHEENT ¢

HfE

Notional amount

HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

20. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

exchange forward contracts to which the Group is committed at the

The ranges of the notional amounts of the major outstanding foreign

end of the reporting period are as follows:

RS
Maturity

Ex
Exchange rates

R-ZB-ZEF=H=+-H
At 31 March 2010

H964,000%TE7,146,000% T
Buy USD964,000 to USD7,146,000

&3,208,0005 7T £6,336,000% T
Buy USD3,208,000 to USD6,336,000

§926,000%TE1,336,000% T
Buy USD926,000 to USD1,336,000

& 1,495,0005 7T £3,873,000% 7T
Buy USD1,495,000 to USD3,873,000

£10,280,000% T
Buy USD10,280,000

B 1,581,000 T £4,692,000% 7T
Buy USD1,581,000 to USD4,692,000

RZBEAF=HA=1+—H
At 31 March 2009

§801,000% 7T
Buy USD801,000

E3,266,000E T
Buy USD3,266,000

£5,820,000% T
Buy USD5,820,000

§404,000% 7t £3,190,000% 7T

Buy USD404,000 to USD3,190,000

—E-FFLAAAES-BFLA=TH
6.7.2010t0 20.7.2010

“E-ZFEAANBEZZ-EFAA=+NH
8.9.2010t0 28.9.2010

—S-FFTATNBE-F-FFTA=1EA
18.10.2010 to 25.10.2010

—E-FEI-ASAZE-F-TET-ANA
3.11.2010t09.11.2010

—2-ZE{-A-A
1.12.2010

—E-—FZAC+-REZZ--FZAZTEA
21.3.2011 0 25.3.2011

“ERAFNAZTZH
22.4.2009

“EZAFRATRA
5.5.2009

—ZENEARAZRA
3.6.2009

“E2EAFLAT=R
ERRNFLA=TRA
13.7.2009 to 30.7.2009

6.793-6.801% 7T,/ AR#E
USD/RMB6.793 - 6.801

6.774-6.808% 7T/ AR¥E
USD/RMB6.774 - 6.808

6.642-6.750% 7T,/ NR#E
USD/RMB6.642 - 6.750

6.720-6.753% 7T,/ AR
USD/RMB6.720 - 6.753

6.649% 7T,/ AR¥E
USD/RMB6.649

6.710-6.717%7T/ AR¥
USD/RMB6.710 - 6.717

6.433%,/ AR¥
USD/RMB6.433

6.585% 7T,/ AR#
USD/RMB6.585

6.691%7,/ AR#
USD/RMB6.691

6.510%86.610% T,/ AR

USD/RMB6.510 t0 6.610
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20.

21.

TTEEMITEm

REBEA L EFRETIIEERS QM
EEAEHTA -

LHETAETRETRARETE - RIBAAE
AEERHE  —F-TF=A=1t—-ARK
CEREERNFZA=+T-RZFABSERE S
o BoRAREFEDRE - RANFRE
®oh - BEEREER B EMER) RREE
(BNEERITE)BERABBSE -

BHRITERRTERK
Be
EMRTERRBTABRASEETS

SERARMNFUABEQRDEEXMEM 2T
BEEM BB ZE -

20. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

21.

The Group does not currently designate any hedging relationship on
the foreign exchange forward contracts for the purpose of hedging
accounting.

The above derivatives were measured at fair value. The classification
of the measurement of the above derivatives at 31 March 2010
and 2009 is Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy. Level 2 fair value
measurements are those from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Short-term Bank Deposits/Bank Balances
and Cash

Included in short-term bank deposits and bank balances and cash
are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the group entities:

—E2—ZF —EENF

2010 2009

FTET FiExT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ESH usb 15,455 44,549
BT Hong Kong dollars 3,541 15,021
AR RMB 618 1,667

BREZR=ZEARIH 2 EHRITERR
FRZFE225% (ZBEZNF: H225%F
4.14%)5t B9 FIESRTIRITERIRER
F0.01%ZE1.71%FEFE(ZEELE
0.01%ZE2.25%) °

ER{LIKEERDA

Other than short-term bank deposits with original maturity more than
three months carrying interest at 2.25% (2009: ranging from 2.25%
to 4.14%) per annum, all remaining bank deposits carrying interest
ranging from 0.01% to 1.71% (2009: 0.01% to 2.25%) per annum.

“EENE-E-EFEFH
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=+ - .
22. BEHERRRETER 22. Creditors and Accrued Charges

RIBEER  ENRAREFERESRES At the end of the reporting period, the balance of creditors and
¥E FE 1+ E F0703,231,0008 T( = ZEZ N accrued charges included trade creditors of HK$703,231,000
1 343,203,000 T ) R WIE K B A A (2009: HK$343,203,000) and consideration payable for acquisition
FE{F 21X 185,550,000 T(ZEF I F : of subsidiaries of HK$5,550,000 (2009: HK$9,238,000). An aged
9,238,000/ 7T) - RIMEMREMNERZ analysis of trade creditors at the end of the reporting period based on

BRER DT ¢ the invoice date is as follows:
—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
FER FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
TZE=1EA 0 - 3 months 680,469 334,865
mZ <18 B 4 - 6 months 20,429 7,125
NMEB UL Over 6 months 2,333 1,213
703,231 343,203
EMRREETHL RGN T EAH Included in creditors are the following amounts denominated in
T2 IR R RE N 2 FIE ¢ currency other than the functional currency of the group entities to

which they relate:

—z-2f —EEAE

2010 2009

T FBT

HK$'000 HK$'000

ESH usb 125,192 47,203
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/= .
23. SRITIRE 23. Bank Borrowings
—E-ZF —EERF
2010 2009
FER FiEx
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITER Bank loans 988,587 485,160
BEHBREZIIRZERE  Discounted bills with recourse
(P=£19) (note 19) 62,437 31,551
1,051,024 516,711
B Secured 62,437 31,551
K Unsecured 988,587 485,160
1,051,024 516,711
RITBEER The borrowings are repayable as follows:
UTHEEE
—FR Within one year 823,024 449,322
—FREMFR More than one year but not exceeding
two years 111,333 49,389
MEBRZE=FA More than two years but not more
than three years 116,667 18,000
1,051,024 516,711
W BR—FRFEIE Less: Amounts due within one year shown under
mEAREBEEs S current liabilities (823,024) (449,322)
228,000 67,389
AEBROHBTEELAENEREBR Certain of the Group's bank borrowings carry annual interests at the
TRZEREI03%IEBRITEZEREM range of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 0.3%
1.10% 5% 14 SR 17 5] 3£ 47 B.10.60% 2 1 to HIBOR plus 1.10%, LIBOR plus 0.60% to LIBOR plus 3% and
PURITRIZEFREM3% KX EMKIRITREIZER Singapore Interbank Money Market Offer Rate (“SIBOR’) plus 3.50%.
Bhn3.50% ° FIE—RAG1ERZ12/8A Interest is repriced in the period from 1 month up to 12 months.
BE—R e
—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
BEF=E Effective interest rates
EEREE Fixed-rate borrowings 0.77% t0 4.19% 1.10% t0 6.84%
FEEE Variable-rate borrowings 0.35% t02.22% 0.55% to 1.23%
RITBEE®IE422,831,0008 T(ZEZH Included in bank borrowings are HK$422,831,000 (2009:
£ : 358,544,000 ) AEEEE EHE HK$358,544,000) at fixed-rate borrowings with the contractual
KA —FREE - maturity dates within 1 year.

ERLIKEERAR —EENE-Z-ZTFEFH
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23. RITEE @) 23. Bank Borrowings (continued)
RITEREEETILEAETB AR EFEMN Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
B2 EEREN IR ¢ in currency other than the functional currency of the group entities

to which they relate:

—E-FF —EENEF
2010 2009
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ESH usb 378,367 143,735
24 BEREHIEEE 24. Deferred Tax Liabilities
UTAREBECRRAZEIBELREBER The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
(BE)RRETEREFRZEBESZE : by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior
years:
TR IERE
Accelerated KABIE
tax Tax Hith #et
depreciation losses Others Total
T FiET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(PfFEE)
(Note)
R=ZENFNAE—A At 1 April 2008 1,926 () 5,415 7,337
WiE— R B A R Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary - - 203 203
FRNGEREE Charge (credit) to profit or
HBR (FTA) (FFEE9) loss (note 9) 300 (13) (542) (255)
Pxgmoge Effect of change in tax rate (110) - - (110)
REZBENF=A=+—H At31March 2009 2,116 (17) 5,076 7,175
FRARGERRER Charge (credit) to profit
MER (T A) (HizF9) or loss (note 9) 223 (3) (557) (337)
RZZE-ZF=A=+—H At31March2010 2,339 (20) 4,519 6,838
3 HERRRWEBHEATRIEAARABERARE Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value
WHBEEGREEVER ANTHES adjustments on assets acquired (i.e. intangible assets, prepaid lease
EYE -  BERRBMELEZELEHEES payments and property, plant and equipment) on acquisition of
& e subsidiaries.
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24 BB IBEEE @

24. Deferred Tax Liabilities (continueq)

MEBIGEHBMRRERMNS  BTELER
HEEREBECKLEH - BEMBRER
BZEETRGEROMTANT ¢

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred taxation assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

—B-EF —EThE

2010 2009

THET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

EEBIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 6,838 7,175
R-ZE-ZTFE=ZA=+—H ' xX&EEEHE At 31 March 2010, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
K HE A K 5 18 £9364,066,0008 Tt (= HK$364,066,000 (2009: HK$314,672,000) available to offset against

FEZ N 314,672,00058 Jt ) 7] i 3K 8
ARG - BE-_Z-—ZTF=A=+—
H EHRAMKEIE121,0008T(=F
ZREF 1000008 L) BAEEB AT Z
ERMENEZERNAEEHBEEE -
ARAEEHARNENRE  MAXE
% 52 Bk T363,945,0008 T( = FE E h
F 1314,572,0008 ) EEREE E
H f1338,229,000% T( = F & h &
288,726,000 7t ) i 7% B5 18 o] SR B 4
B SREEN S - NERZAEE -

REETERER > LEBRPEAREHRBD
AE=ZZN\F— A —BRRECEMSH
A BRELZ R4S 2R AR 88 7% F11764,224,000
BT( =TT h F 356,294,000/ 7T )
SIcEREZRFELEES ERE - H
BHEAREEBERREZN 2R 2ENH
EUMAREETEFBEENER 2B
B MEREEATERERAETE
o o

future profits. As at 31 March 2010, a deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$121,000 (2009: HK$100,000) of such
losses from a Hong Kong subsidiary which set off with taxable
temporary differences of the relevant group entity. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$363,945,000
(2009: HK$314,572,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in the unrecognised tax losses, HK$338,229,000
(2009: HK$288,726,000) may be carried forward indefinitely and the
remaining balance will expire at various dates up to and including
2014.

Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the temporary differences
attributable to the undistributed retained profits earned by the
subsidiaries in Mainland China amounting to HK$764,224,000 (2009:
HK$356,294,000) starting from 1 January 2008 under the EIT Law
that requires withholding tax upon the distribution of such profits
to the shareholders as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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25. Share Capital
SETE
Authorised 2BRITRAR

—E-EFR Issued and fully paid
—EThE —T-2F —EThE
2010 & 2009 2010 2009
FHExT FET FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BREE0. 1078 T2 RHp Shares of HK$0.10 each 80,000 54,413 53,576

FARABZCHITRAEUTEE :

Movements in the issued share capital of the Company during the

year are as follows:

BRHEE

Number -]

of shares Amount

T BT

‘000 HK$'000

R-ZZZENFHA—H At 1 April 2008 487,412 48,741
BER 1 (KiEEa) Placement of shares (note a) 50,000 5,000
1TERE AR AE (B aEb) Exercise of share options (note b) 1,624 162
B 10 = 88 (Bt aEc) Shares repurchased (note c) (3,274) (327)
RZZBEZTAFE=A=+—H At 31 March 2009 535,762 53,576
TR AR (FfEEd) Exercise of share options (note d) 8,884 888
& 47 188 (i EEc) Shares repurchased (note ¢) (512) (51)
RZZE—=F=HA=+—H At31March 2010 544,134 54,413

FfeE

(a)

MR-ZEZNFNA+TNB  RAQF()HEE
EREETEEE]) (BAKARPITES
REERER) FIIRBHE RER
5.505% Jt 2 {8 #% 52 850,000,000 37 &% 15
RE > RNEEEEREREBERH
SROBERAT(HREREDFTEEE
S B EERIE NS R5.508 T 2 E% H
££50,000,000 A QA RBHE 2R B HEES
W& ZHRER-ZTEENFNA=+THRE
B o FREE Z BTSRRI EE A %268,000,000
BT o AARRAERBZERIEFEE
BhE-REEESREAHIRERER
ZH e

BE-_ZTZAF=A=+—HLEEER:
#751,624,00008 Z B RERHEITE » K
A A A Itk % Bl 8 17200,0008% ~ 692,000
B& ~ 540,0008% % 192,0008% = IZ 1 {80.10
BTz SREEDHIR1.590E8 T
2.004383T ~ 4.050;8 7T} 1.950/8 7T ©

Notes:

On 18 April 2008, the Company entered into (i) a subscription agreement
with Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony (“Mr. Ip”), an executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company, for the subscription
of 50,000,000 new shares of the Company at the price of HK$5.50 per
share (the “Subscription”), and (ii) a placing agreement with Mr. Ip and
Macquarie Capital Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to
which Mr. Ip agreed to sell and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the
sale of 50,000,000 existing shares of the Company at a price of HK$5.50
per share. Completion of the Subscription took place on 30 April 2008.
The net proceeds of the Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$268 million. The Company intended to use the net proceeds from
the Subscription principally as general working capital, and for capital
expenditure and business expansion.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, 1,624,000 share options were
exercised, resulting in the issue of 200,000 shares, 692,000 shares,
540,000 shares and 192,000 shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
at a price of HK$1.590, HK$2.004, HK$4.050 and HK$1.950 per share
respectively.
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25.

26.

&N
MiE - (&)

(0 BEZZEFAF=ZA=+-HLEE
A R PTUEEN F2.058 T E2.25
7 TR 4 K {88,167,000/8 T AT E =2
3,786,000B D5t AR B EFI o ZER D
o fF B8 [B] 223,274,0008% B 49 A £ R EE
o MRAZTBNE=ZA-+=ZARER
B4 %1,150,0007% T F B /= 2512,0008%
BROER-Z—ZFE=A=+—HLEE
HEEHE AR =_TBRFE=A=+=8
BEZBHZEAREERBE=_TZN
FZA=+—-ALEFEZREEFINR -

d REBZ2-FT-ZF=A=+—HLEE
A+ 8,884,00017 g RER T » AAQH
It T % B 8% 47300,0008% ~ 50,0008
2,000,0008% ~ 352,000% ~ 1,274,0008%
3,010,0008% 1,898,000% 4 i% M {H0.10
Bz SREEDBIR1190ET
1.590/ 7T * 1.690/8 7T * 2.00478 7T * 4.050
BT~ 1.950/8 TR 4.53658TT °

FBEBRITROEEMEIHEERZH
BROEAE S -

EARREE B EEBE

AEEERHEAURFBEBELERE
RAZEARAZMBEOH  FEEA
M FEEE - AEEBBHFRISHE
BEEEAAR -

FEEZEAEBEERTEE 2R
R 23 B 2RTERRA QX ARRE
s (BERARFAEEERERR)

RABEBEMERELEE - FRAERK
—®BD  ARPDEEKEREFIRARE
BEARWRRE UBBXMARE - BTH
B BITHEIEREREEE  UFPE
BRELERE -

25.

26.

Share Capital (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(0) During the year ended 31 March 2009, 3,786,000 shares were
repurchased on the Stock Exchange at the unit price ranging from
HK$2.05 to HK$2.25 at an aggregate consideration of HK$8,167,000
which was charged to retained profits. Out of the shares, 3,274,000
shares repurchased was cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2009
while 512,000 shares repurchased on 23 March 2009 at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$1,150,000 were cancelled during
the year ended 31 March 2010. The consideration paid for the shares
repurchased on 23 March 2009 was charged to retained profits for the
year ended 31 March 2009.

(d) During the year ended 31 March 2010, 8,884,000 share options were
exercised, resulting in the issue of 300,000 shares, 50,000 shares,
2,000,000 shares, 352,000 shares, 1,274,000 shares, 3,010,000 shares
and 1,898,000 shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company at a price of
HK$1.190, HK$1.590, HK$1.690, HK$2.004, HK$4.050, HK$1.950 and
HK$4.536 per share respectively.

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue
in all respects.

Capital Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which mainly
include the bank borrowings disclosed in note 23, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves including retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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27. Financial Instruments

SR T RN Categories of financial instruments
e —EThE
2010 2009
T FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MBEEE Financial assets
BRI R ERER(EE Loans and receivables (including cash and
RERREEEER) cash equivalents) 2,437,430 1,796,752
AHHEERE Available-for-sale investment 12,387 12,360
fTEEmI AR Derivative financial instruments at fair
AREFABR value through profit or loss - 4,868
MBRAR Financial liabilities
B Amortised cost 1,849,683 976,094
eI AR Derivative financial instruments at fair
AREFABR value through profit and loss 447 -
TEEmIARE Derivative financial instruments in designated
ez T A as hedging instruments 283 —
MBRAREEBRENE Financial risk management objectives and policies

AEEZTESLRT AEGRBIIRRKRE
BRE - HpEWERR - fTEEmT A
AEHERE - BHRITER - RITEER
RRE - BERRRRTEE - ZESH
TEFBEREMERE - TXHIEZE
ERTARB T SEROMNERRE - FI=X
BB REMERRER) FERBRRAEE
EEK - THE 2 MAREZSERR 2
K EREEEZSAR  UBRRKE
RERMRIEE 2 ik - NEEAEY
ZhsARREEERAEZAR IR

e m B

SHE R
ROBETHERBUMGETHER K
B <SAKEBEEHIERR AEEY
2%HHELEHEEB AR DEEER S
1B A% HREE UAEER QTN
WEEEHSIE -

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bills
receivables, other debtors, derivative financial instruments, available-
for-sale investment, short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
creditors and bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. There has been no
significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risk or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales
and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 2% of the Group’s sales are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities
making the sale, whilst almost 89% of purchases are denominated in
the relevant group entities’ functional currency.
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REFUIMNEFIENERIRE - HERE
2% (ZBENF 5% ) FEERIRTE -
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in respective notes. During the year, the Group has entered
into certain foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce its exposure
to potential variability of foreign currency risk arising from changes in
foreign exchange exposure. The management continuously monitors
the foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to currency of USD and Hong Kong dollars.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 2% (2009: 5%)
increase and decrease in RMB, the functional currency of respective
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 2% (2009:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 2% (2009: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A
lower percentage is adopted in the sensitivity analysis in current year
as fluctuation of RMB against USD and Hong Kong dollars become
more stable during the year. The sensitivity analysis includes trade and
bills receivables, bank balances, creditors as well as bank borrowings.
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit after taxation
where RMB strengthen 2% (2009: 5%) against the relevant currency
for net liability position and vice versa. For a 2% (2009: 5%) weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit after taxation.

—E-=F ZE2EhEF

2010 2009

TET FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

X usb 7,199 5,268
BT Hong Kong dollars (140) (747)
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure on the foreign exchange
forward contracts is disclosed in other price risk of this note.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate bank deposits and bank borrowings (see note 23 for details of
these borrowings). However, since the bank deposits and the majority
of the bank borrowings will mature within one year, the management
considers the risk is insignificant to the Group.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank deposits carried interest at prevailing market deposit rate
and floating-rate short-term bank borrowings (see notes 21 and 23
for details). In order to keep the Group’s bank borrowings at fixed
rates, the Group entered into interest rate swaps to hedge against
its exposures to changes in cash flows of certain bank borrowings.
The critical terms of these interest rate swaps are the same to those
of hedged bank borrowings. Interest rate swaps are designated as
effective hedging instruments and hedge accounting is used (see note
20 for details).

The Group's bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank balances. The directors consider the Group's exposure of the
short-term bank deposits with original maturity less than three
months and bank balances to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are within short maturity period and
thus it is not included in sensitivity analysis.
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
the reporting period. For interest bearing bank deposits with original
maturity more than three months and bank borrowings, the analysis
is prepared assuming the amount of assets and liabilities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2009: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates on interest bearing bank borrowings (excluding
bank loans under cash flow hedges of HK$139,209,000 (see note
20)) and short-term bank deposits with original maturity more than
three months had been 50 basis points (2009: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the profit
after taxation for the year ended 31 March 2010 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$588,000 (2009: decrease/increase by
approximately HK$45,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its interest bearing short-term bank
deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings which are not hedged
against their exposures to cash flow interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its derivative financial
instruments. The Group's other price risk is mainly concentrated on
the interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts.
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure
to other price risks for derivatives at the end of the reporting period:

o if the forward exchange rate of foreign exchange forward
contracts had been 2% (2009: 5%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the profit after tax for
the year ended 31 March 2010 would increase/decrease by
HK$6,287,000 (2009: increase/decrease by HK$6,042,000);

o if the forward interest rate of interest rate swap contracts had
been 50 basis points (2009: nil) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the debt side of hedging reserve
would decrease/increase by HK$577,000 (2009: nil) as a result
of fair value change on interest rate swap contracts.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to perform
an obligation by the counterparties are arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated the responsible personnel for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt and other debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does
not have any other significant concentration of credit risk on trade
and other debtors. Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had available unutilised
bank borrowings facilities of approximately HK$995,822,000 (2009:
HK$1,468,959,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. For derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted
net cash outflows are presented.
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27. €M T B 27. Financial Instruments (continued)
MHERREEBREBE (& Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
REELmEE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
q y
REERRFIER R Liquidity and interest risk tables
-EpHE WENLE  EREES
MEFH —ERULE  THEERE  TEBLE pi=rere
ERAIZ T#B-%F  Morethan  Morethan Total
Weighted —-ERR Tmonth  1yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual REE
average Less than to less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1 year 2 years 3years cash flow amount
Fin TET TET FiEn TET Fign
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
~2-2% 2010
ERVE 5 3= Non-derivative financial
liabilities
ERERRAMELR Creditors and other
payables 249,501 549,041 - - 798 542 798 542
ROER Bank loans
-%8 - at variable rate 1.25 25,253 379,731 113318 117,288 635,590 628,193
-E8 - at fixed rate 164 285,979 139,228 - - 42507 422,831
RITEX Bank overdrafts 17 - - - 17 17
560,850 1,068,000 113318 117,288 1,859,456 1,849,683
fHESBER Derivative financial
-BEER liabilities - net settlement
HERHEN Foreign exchange forward
contracts - 447 - - 47 447
HERHEY Interest rate swap contracts - 283 - - 283 283
- 730 - - 730 730
“E2ENE 2009
ERie 5 3= Non-derivative financial
liabilities
ERERRAMELSR Creditors and other
payables 240,399 218,842 - - 459,241 459,241
ROER Bank loans
-%8 - at variable rate 0.93 14,814 77,038 49,784 18,147 159,783 158,167
-E8 - at fixed rate 340 186,748 174,492 - - 361,240 358,544
RITEX Bank overdrafts 142 - - - 142 14
442,103 470,372 49,784 18,147 980,406 976,094
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

o the fair value of derivative financial instruments of foreign
exchange forward contract are measured at fair value by
reference to quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates matching remaining
maturities of the contracts.

. the fair value of derivative financial instruments of interest rate
swap contracts are measured at the present value of future cash
flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield
curves derived from quoted interest rates; and

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative financial instruments) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable
current market transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values.

ERLIKEERAR —FENE-Z-ZTFEFH
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28. B RS & 28. Share Option Scheme
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On 3 September 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "Existing Scheme”), which will expire on 2 September 2012, in
order to comply with the terms of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. The purpose of the
Existing Scheme is to recognise and motivate the participants and
to provide incentives and a direct economic interest in attaining the
long term business objectives of the Company. Under the Existing
Scheme, the directors may grant options to any eligible employees
of the Group, including directors of the Company or its subsidiaries,
legal, financial, management and technical advisers and consultants,
major customers and raw material and machinery suppliers of the
Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company. Options granted
are exercisable within ten years from the date of grant, where the
acceptance date should not be later than 28 days after the date of
offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of options. The subscription price of the option share is not
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing prices of the shares on the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the shares. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Existing Scheme may not
exceed in nominal amount of 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date of approval of the Existing Scheme. However,
the total maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding shares options must not exceed 30% of
the issued share capital from time to time. The number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any one
year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

On 5 October 2009, a total of 8,362,000 (2009: 5,304,000) share
options were granted to 139 (2009: 118) full time employees,
including the executive directors, at an exercise price of HK$4.536
(2009: HK$1.950) per option share under the terms of the Existing
Scheme. Total consideration received from employees for taking up
the options granted amounted to HK$139 (2009: HK$118).
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28. Bl &l @ 28. Share Option Scheme (continued)
RATZERETEZHRITEBRER A summary of the movements of the outstanding options and their
HEBEz MR TEERSEARSHR related weighted average exercise prices during each of the reporting
ZEEIMNT ¢ periods under the Company’s share option scheme are as follows:

EREHE
Number of share options
REBENE R-E-3f

mA-A ERg Emg ERE ZA=1-A
BR{TE i % i P X
REAH T#E  Outstanding Granted  Exerdsed  Cancelled  Outstanding

Date Exercise at during during during at
of grant price 14,2009 the year the year theyear  31.3.2010
BT
HKS
BitH Existing Scheme ~ ZZE-E{-A{HA 1190 1,100,000 - 300,000 - 800,000
14.11.2002
Z2IMERATLA 1590 1,125,000 - 50,000 - 1075000
17.5.2004
ZZIMETANA 1690 2,000,000 - 2000000 - -
8.10.2004
“ZZRETACTIA 2004 1,794,000 - 352,000 - 1,442,000
24.10.2005
ZZTHEMA=A 405  5380,000 - 1274000 152000 3,954,000
342007
ZETNETAZT-H 1950 5,112,000 - 3010000 26000 2076000
31.10.2008
ZZZNETRRA 453 - 8362000 1,898,000 - 6464000
5.10.2009

16,511,000 8,362,000 8,884,000 178,000 15,811,000

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
MERS Weighted average exercise
SRITHE price per share 2533 453 2720 3743 3474
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BEBTSIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

B AER &l 28. Share Option Scheme (continued)
EhEsA
Number of share options
Hogeng HogRAE
mA-H £RE £RE ERE =B=t-H
WA R i Fid WA
RiLAH fif8  Outstanding Granted  Exerdsed  Cancelled  Outstanding
Date Exercise at during during during at
of grant price 1.4.2008 the year the year the year 31.3.2009
B
HKS
BiTitél Existing Scheme ~ =ZZ-Ft+-AT0A 1190 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
14.11.2002
“ZEMERATLA 150 1,325,000 - 200,000 - 1,125,000
17.5.2004
ZZIMETANA 1690 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
8.10.2004
ZERRETACTEA 2004 2,486,000 - 692,000 - 1,794,000
24.10.2005
ZZZLEMA=A 405 6,008,000 - 540,000 83000 5,380,000
34.2007
ZERN\ETAZT-H 1950 - 5,304,000 192,000 - 5,112,000
31.10.2008
12919000 5304000 1,624,000 88000 16,511,000
B B B B BT
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
ETH Weighted average exercise
BRRE price per share 27%5 1950 2607 4050 2533
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28. Bl &l @ 28. Share Option Scheme (continued)
FREENULENRAESESEERE Details of the options held by the directors included in the above table
2T are as follows:

BiREE
Number of share options
HRZZENE RZZ-Z%

BA-H EAt Fh ZAZt-B
BARATE i BfiE  HAAE
BB %8  Outstanding Granted  Exercsed  Outstanding

Date Exercise at during during at
of grant price 1.4.2009 the year theyear  31.3.2010
BT
HKS
Bitd Existing Scheme “EECET-A1RA 1190 1,000,000 - 300,000 700,000
14.11.2002
“TEMERATLR 1,590 700,000 - - 700,000
17.5.2004
“ZERETACTRA 2.004 600,000 - - 600,000
24.10.2005
“TELEMA=A 4050 800,000 - 200,000 600,000
342007
“EEN\FtE=1-A 1.950 700,000 - 300,000 400,000
31.10.2008
“ZENETRIA 453 - 1,700,000 700000 1,000,000
5.10.2009
3800000 1700000 1500000 4,000,000
EREYE
Number of share options
RERRE(
RZBENE  SFESMEM RZBEnE

MA-B Increase dueto ERE FRE ZA=1-A
MATTE appointment of B It HATE
RiLAS € Outstanding anew director Granted  Exercsed  Outstanding

Date Exercise at during during during at
of grant price 14,2008 the year the year theyear  31.3.2009
B
HKS
Bitd Existing Scheme ~ ZZE-FE{-F{HA 1190 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
14.11.2002
“ZEMFRATLA 1590 600,000 100,000 - - 700,000
17.5.2004
ZZZRETACTRA 2,004 400,000 200,000 - - 600,000
24.10.2005
ZZRLEMA=A 4050 600,000 200,000 - - 800,000
342007
“ERN\FTAZT-H 1950 - - 800,000 100,000 700,000
31.10.2008

2,600,000 500,000 800,000 100,000 3,800,000
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HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

28. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise of share
option during the year was HK$5.773 (2009: HK$4.939). The option
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining
contract life of 7.67 years (2009: 7.53 years).

The estimated fair value of the options granted on grant date
of 5 October 2009 was HK$0.7344 per option, amounting to
HK$6,141,000 while the estimated fair value of the options granted
on grant date of 31 October 2008 was HK$0.2006 per option,
amounting to HK$1,064,000.

ZERNAREDRE MR NR - SR IER This fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model.
BENE  ZEEER 2 ASES M The inputs into the model were as follows:
T
—2-2F —EThE
2010 2009
IR E Weighted average share price on grant date HK$4.536 HK$1.874
11518 Exercise price HK$4.536 HK$1.950
R Expected volatility 31.05% - 32.78%  23.35% - 25.41%
FEEHEARR Expected life 2.7-3.6 years 2.4 -39 years
EEBAI=E Risk free rate 0.772% - 1.217%  1.092% - 1.763%
iR EE Expected dividend yield 4.83% -5.13% 5.23%

HRAIE - SFENTNEEERETER
ABEIHZRR  BEREZKE
HEBRABRZEBTEALEAAE
ZAhEt e

FEEOREDRIEARAATRERBE27EZE
36FRN(ZEENF 24F839F )2
FREANE c REEXNEAZEFFHE
MIEEEM  THERIRITHAZEREZEN
FE REEEEREMIELAZR -

BHZERENINTE - RZT—FF
=ZA=+—-8 SERIAEEXTERE
RG22 BEHB6,141,0008T(ZFEFH
& 1,064,000/ 7T) °

Because the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of share prices,
changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair
value estimate.

Expected volatility was determined by using historical volatility of the
Company’s share price over the previous 2.7 to 3.6 years (2009: 2.4
to 3.9 years). The expected life used in the model has been estimated,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The share options granted vest immediately. The Group recognised
total expenses of HK$6,141,000 (2009: HK$1,064,000) relating to
share option payment transactions during the year ended 31 March
2010.
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29.

30.

31.

BERMARE 29. Capital Commitments
—E-ZF —EThEF
2010 2009
FER FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRAWEYE - BEK  Capital expenditure in respect of the
RECEREX acquisition of property, plant and equipment
REMSTES and prepaid lease payments
- BRI EMEHRE — contracted for but not provided in
RFEE the consolidated financial statements 42,229 16,715
—BREERTN — authorised but not contracted for 462,868 -
& E N RIE 30. Operating Lease Commitments
FEEEREBA The Group as lessee

REER  AEERRN T ERER2HE
B FEERMERE T UHEE
FEROMARESNRREERERE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented properties which fall
due as follows:

—E-ZF —EENF

2010 2009

FExT FiE&xT

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 9,598 9,375

E(-ZERE (BR In the second to fifth year inclusive 27,751 21,427
MEBEEA)

hFE® After five years 32,011 26,330

69,360 57,132

RBEAEET L 2HY  HEHH—F
BEZtHF

EEALRS

FR - AEED B $960,0008 (==
Z A HF : 960,00078 7T ) %600,00058 7T (=
ZERF 1 600,0008 ) 2EFEER
EERATREEREERAR  AQF
CEEELERAEERETHEEDBINZ
MEARFESHE -

FREBASARRRCEBRUEHHE
BAE o WEHM 2 FBEHNMIG

Under the leases entered into by the Group, the lease terms and
rentals are fixed from one year to twenty years.

31. Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000 (2009:
HK$960,000) and HK$600,000 (2009: HK$600,000) to Goldex
Investments Limited and Galsheer Investments Limited respectively
in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, Tony and Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Stephen, the
directors of the Company, have beneficial interests respectively.

The key management personnel are the directors and the five highest
paid individual of the Company. The details of the remuneration paid
to them are set out in note 6.



32. BRIRERIFHEI

FEEZHERBRERAKERIBZTZ
ERMRET B (TRER AR ) RRER
REMRIR-ZFZTZTF+ AR ZEE
EBI(GRESTE ) - ZEFHB2EE
HEARECEEIRER  HERAEE
ZERESHFA -ERESTEMLZ
Al RABERATEREZEETEE
BESEBXRAGEREETRESH
g HER-ZEREFEFT-_A-HIUE
MABzREZSHEBRESE -

AARRPELY 2HBAEEETIRAF
BT B 2 BREERMNER G E 2K
E-MEARAZHAREEFE2ETE
Dt ERZRABRFEZES - AE
2 i —EEREAZRIKENT RS
EREK

STABBEZHAB17,842,0008 T( =2
ZHF : 15,052,0008 5T ) R R AEEIZ
FTERAGT Rzt RERZETEEL 2
MR e NZEB—BF=A=+—H " #K
& Hi R B 2 £ 38393,0008 T (=B E N
1 408,000/ T ) AR FZEE - &%
ESHECRBEPREIZA -

HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

32. Retirement Benefit Plan

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the "ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“"MPF Scheme") established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior
to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of
staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after 1 December
2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by
the government of Mainland China. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.

The costs charged to profit or loss of HK$17,842,000 (2009:
HK$15,052,000) represents contributions paid or payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans in respect
of the current accounting period. As at 31 March 2010, contributions
of HK$393,000 (2009: HK$408,000) due in respect of the reporting
period had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid
over subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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33. WEEK B A E] 33. Acquisition of Subsidiaries
R-ZZENFAA+LH A2F#HE On 17 June 2008, Yip’s Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited, which is an
100% R 2 BEZEMBARERASE indirect 100% interest owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
(RE)BRATCTLBER BB ITERA the entire equity interest of Fusen Ink Chemical Co., Limited (“Fusen”,
AlREADBREEZRRAFLRAMECTL) now known as Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemical (Hebei) Limited),
BRAT)WBRRZEIRE - BHRAR a private limited company established in Mainland China. Fusen is
FEIRE Y 2AABRAT]  TERF primarily engaged in the manufacture of and trading in coatings in
B EREREEER - BREIR Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the entire equity
EZBEENEAR17,804,000 A RE(HEER interest in Fusen was RMB17,804,000 (equivalent to approximately
#919,936,000/87T) - ZIEWBHARES HK$19,936,000). This acquisition has been accounted for using the
FEAREAR - purchase method.

T
HK$'000
W2 FEE Net assets acquired:
M - BERREE Property, plant and equipment 21,688
FERLHES Prepaid lease payments 4,350
A Inventories 851
FEWERTR Trade debtors 1,303
HAERBRF R BB Other debtors and prepayments 1,844
BREE Intangible assets 811
RITHBRRS Bank balances and cash 68
FEfFERTR Trade creditors (990)
HubE{ERFA FESTE A Other creditors and accrued charges (1,947)
RITIEE Bank borrowings (7,839)
ELERIEEE Deferred taxation liabilities (203)
A&t Total 19,936
AR Satisfied by
B Cash 5913
BRI R BT E Creditors and accrued charges 4,034
WEHB AT & Deposit paid for acquisition of a subsidiary 9,989
19,936
WEMBARIZRE Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
R
ReRE Cash consideration 5,913
WEzREERRE Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Z£E1EH (68)
5,845

ERLIKEERAR —FENE-Z-ZTFEFH




33.

34.

W B B B 2 Bl @)

BREFEERHELHESEAESE
S WRBF 2 FEECRRBAIEL R
EETEM  RBAHQIREFHREE -

BRBEFLEEZAABDREXMERE
E-CHBENEEERRIEREART
BRUBR=FHBETEABENERE
FEERIEACXNESEEENER
MEH 2 THFEHER

RUBHBEEEE_STNF=ZA=1
— B HRIE R #2152,851,00078 TT@ A

TENEAF

RABRZEEWBARZFHBENT ¢

33

34.

HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

Other than the intangible assets and the corresponding effect on
deferred taxation liabilities, the acquiree’s net assets were revalued to
fair value before the acquisition. Accordingly, no fair value adjustments
are required.

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired, which relates to
the non-competition covenants given by the vendors of Fusen for
not establishing, directly or indirectly, within Mainland China any
enterprise to produce or trade coating products for a period of three
years after the acquisition, has been determined by reference to
professional valuations.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, Fusen contributed a profit

of HK$2,851,000 from the date of acquisition to the end of that
reporting period.

Principal Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

EERREA
BRARK /R
REZERL
ZE-2F ZEZTHE
BRIRA/ Proportion of
A/ S HMEACEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
ARER incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TEEH
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
EERRARAT B EER-28% 100% 100% NERE
Base Rich Development Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Property investment
Limited
Bauhinia Paints Limited RERLHES ZER-1,00087T 100% 100% REZR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary-HK$1,000 Investment holding
SHEER B BRAT ERKE EAER 100% 100% HEREE
-BEMELE ~28,000,000ARH REREH
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and
(Chengdu) Co., Limited - wholly owned contribution- trading in solvents and
foreign enterprise RMB28,000,000 coatings
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34. FEMME AT @)

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

EESRREE
BRTRA/
BEZBEAL
ZE-TF ZETAE
BETRE/ Proportion of
A/ TS AMEAZEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DR incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TEER
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
R BBARAH B BER-20%ER 100% 100% REREREH
BER-6000008L  MEE() M)
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$20 note (b)  note (b) Trading in solvents and coatings
Limited Deferred-HK$600,000
SHEHR(LSRRAT ERKE ERER 100% 100% HEREE
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing -BENELE -6,100,000%7 BERER
(Shanghai) Co., Limited Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading
- wholly owned contribution- in solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise USD6, 100,000
ZHTEERRINERLT ERKE ERER 100% 100% HEREE
-BENELR ~28,800,000/87 RHRZH
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited - wholly owned contribution- in solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise HK$28,800,000
SHRHBIRERLA PEIAR EAEH 100% 100% HEREE
-BENELR ~16,000,000/87 RHREH
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading
(Shantou) Co., Ltd. - wholly owned contribution- in solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise HK$16,000,000
Bauhinia Paints (Thailand) 1 EBIR - 250,000% 49% 49% nERE
Manufacturing Limited Thailand Ordinary-Baht 250,000 Wzt (a) HizE(a) Property investment
note ()  note (a)
HEHRE (T ERAT PEIAR EAEH 100% 100% HERRERH
(AETLERARCIARLE) -BENELXR ~38,000,000ARE
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Mainland China Capital contribution- Manufacture of and trading
Chemical (Hebei) Limited - wholly owned RMB38,000,000 in coatings
(formerly known as Fusen Ink foreign enterprise

Chemical Co., Limited)

ER{LIKEEERAA

—gThE-T-BEESH




34. FEMME AT @)

HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

SESAER
BRARK /R
BAEZEAL
ZE-ZF ZEERF
BREIRE/ Proportion of
/M HMEACEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DRERE incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TTER
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
FEHBE(PL)BRAR HEARE ERER 100% 100% HEREERH
-BENELE ~60,000,0003&7%
Bauhinia Variegata Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in coatings
Ink & Chemicals - wholly owned contribution-
(Zhongshan) Limited foreign enterprise HK$60,000,000
FEABECDLBRAR HEAKE ERER 100% 100% HEREERH
-BENELE ~13,000,000% 7%
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in coatings
Chemicals (Zhejiang) - wholly owned contribution-
Limited foreign enterprise UsD13,000,000
ESHERERAR BB EBR-2ER 100% 100% EERER
Best Lubricant Blending Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Trading in lubricants
Limited
REREBRAT B ZBER-10,00087 100% 100% NERE
Big Youth Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$10,000 Property investment
BALIEHERAA ) LER-1600008BT  75% 75% REER
Concord Chemical Storaging Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$160,000 Investment holding
Limited
BELEERTARY HEARE ERER 100% 100% PEEERZARE
(MINERAT -BENELE ~ 23,000,000/7
Dao Ming Business Mainland China Capital Corporate management and
Management Consultancy - wholly owned contribution- consultation services
Service (Shenzhen) Co., foreign enterprise HK$23,000,000
Limited
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BREBTSIMEMEE Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

EESAEE
BRRA/
BAEZEAL
ZER-TE ZEZENE
BREIRE/ Proportion of
R/ E FMErzEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DREE incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital FEEEK
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
RRBELIEARLT N ERER 100% 100% REREH
-BENELE -10,000,000% 7T BEREH
Dongguan Hang Cheung Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in
Petrochemical Limited - wholly owned contribution- solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise HK$10,000,000
REATHESHRENERAT HEARE ERER 60% 60% HEREERRN
-BENELE =50,000,000%7
Dongguan Pacoil Lubricant Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in lubricants
Company Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$50,000,000
RERIE(EMNERAT N ERER 100% 100% REREEEH
-BENELE ~24,500,000%7
Da Chang Polymers (Huizhou) Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in coatings
Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$24,500,000
ERERAR £ EER-287T 100% 100% NERE
Goldchain Limited Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Property investment
ERERLR BED EER-1%7 100% 100% REER
Great Success Limited Samoa Ordinary-USD1 Investment holding
RECIERERAT £l EBIR 60000087 100% 100% REER
Handsome Chemical Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$600,000 Investment holding
Development Limited
ARECIRBERLA £l LB - 60,0008 100% 100% REUABRS
Handsome Chemical Services Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$60,000 Provision of treasury services

Limited

ER{LIKEEERAA
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HABIEIMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

SEEERE
BRARK /R
BAEZEAL
ZER-ZE ZEZENE
BREIRE/ Proportion of
R/ HMEACEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DREE incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TEER
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
BEERR(ER)BRAT HEARE ERER 100% 100% HEREE
-BENELE ~13,900,000% 7 BERER
Hang Cheung Coatings Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in
(Hui Yang) Limited - wholly owned contribution- solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise USD13,900,000
BERRFTERAT HEARE ERER 100% 100% HEREE
-BENELE ~7,000,000% 7 BERER
Hang Cheung Coatings Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in
(Zhejiang) Limited - wholly owned contribution- solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise UsD7,000,000
Hang Cheung Petrochemical KBRS EBR-1%En 100% 100% BEREE
(International) Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary-USD1 RERZR
Manufacture of and trading in
solvents and coatings
BERMLIARAT B ZBER-800000BT  100% 100% REREE
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$800,000 BERER
Limited Manufacture of and trading in
solvents and coatings
BEERBRIRBRAA ) LER-287 100% 100% RERERER
Hang Cheung Procurement & Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Merchandising of solvents and coatings
Logistics Limited
Hang Cheung (W.S.) Limited BEE EBR-1%En 100% 100% RERR
Samoa Ordinary-USD1 Investment holding
BEZHIERE (XhE ) BRAR R LBR-1496655T  100% 100% REZR
BER-335%7 Mizb)  HEo)
Hong Kong Bauhinia Paints Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$ 149,665 note (b)  note(b) Investment holding

Manufacturing (Greater China)
Company Limited

Deferred-HK$335
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3. TEMB AT @) 34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

EENEREL
BRARK /R
BEZEAL
2-%5 —PENS
BEIRE/ Proportion of
R/ S FMErzEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DRER incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital FEEH
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
ENRERTERAR PEAR EAEH 5% 75% HELEERE
-BANELR 15,000,000 AR &
Huizhou Shengda Chemical Mainland China Capital contribution- Manufacture of and trading in solvents
Co., Limited - wholly owned RMB15,000,000
foreign enterprise
IFRELIRRERAT hEIAHE EAEH 75% 75% HEREERA
-RERELR =90,800,0007
Jiangmen Handsome Chemical Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in solvents
Development Limited - equity joint venture contribution-
HK$90,800,000
IMBELIRRERAT hEIAHE EAEH 75% 75% HEREERA
-BENELE 40,000,007
Jiangmen Heng Wah Chemical Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in solvents
Development Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$40,000,000
IRXARAHRERAT hEIAHE EAEH 75% 75% HEREERE
-BANELE =53,000,000&7
Jiangmen Thansome Solvents Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in solvents
Production Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$53,000,000
APERHERAR B EBR-2900008T  60% 60% HENEERRH
Pacific Oil & Chemical Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$290,000 Manufacture of and trading in lubricants
Company Limited
AVEBERERERAT B EBR-10,00087 60% 60% RENEERRH
Pacific Special-Lube Limited Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$10,000 Manufacture of and trading in lubricants
Primer Limited BED EBR-1%ER 100% 100% REER
Samoa Ordinary-USD1 Investment holding
Prophet Investments Limited RBELHES EBR-1%7 100% 100% REER
British Virgin Ordinary-USD1 Investment holding
Islands

ERLIKEERAA
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HABIEHMEHET Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

EESARE
BRTRA/ R
BEzEDL
ZE-RF ZERNE
BRIRA/ Proportion of
R/ SR H EMEAzEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
ARER incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TEEK
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
RIESERRERAT PEAKE EAER 100% 100% EEEER
-BANELE ~1,000,000A R
Shenzhen Best Lubricant Mainland China Capital Trading in lubricants
Blending Limited - wholly owned contribution-
domestic enterprise RMB1,000,000
FESTIEIEERAR PEAKE EAER 75% 75% HEREERE
-BANELE 42,000,000
Taixing Jinjiang Chemical Mainland China Capital contribution- Manufacture of and trading in solvents
Industry Co., Limited - wholly owned HK$42,000,000
foreign enterprise
FESTIEEFERLA PEAKE EAER 75% 75% BERY
-BANELE =500,000A K
Taixing Jinjiang Chemical Mainland China Capital contribution- Trading in solvents
Trading Co., Limited - wholly owned RMB500,000
domestic enterprise
RRESERRERLR HE KR ERER 100% 100% HEREEEEM
-BANELE 8,400,000
Tianjin Best Lubricant Blending Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in lubricants
Co., Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$8,400,000
TM Holding Limited ARELEE LBER-1%T 100% 100% BEEE
British Virgin Ordinary-HK$1 Holding of trade-mark
Islands
TM Holding (Hong Kong) B LER-287 100% 100% BEEE
Limited Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Holding of trade-mark
ERFBIR (SR 2 ZER - 1000002F5%  100% 100% BERBRPNE |
BEBH)ERAT BHEBERBRTH
Totalle Procurement Logistics Macau Ordinary-MOP100,000 Commercial and services

(Macao Commercial Offshore)
Limited

agents, overseas selling

activities and back offices
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34. FEME A T @)

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

EEEAER
BRTRA/I
BAEZEAL
ZE-2F ZEEThF
BRIRE/ Proportion of
A/ S HMEAER nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
DRERE incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TTEHK
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
EREE (KB) FRAT B BBER-999500ET  100% 100% REZRR
Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited Hong Kong BER - 50087 MiEEb) M) TRALARRS
Ordinary-HK$999,500 note (b)  note (h) Investment holding and
Deferred-HK$500 provision of services
ER{I(LE)BRAT N ERER M@ 100% HEREE
-BENELR ~2,500,000%7 note () RHREZH
Yip's Chemical (Shanghai) Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in
Company Limited - wholly owned contribution- solvents and coatings
foreign enterprise UsD2,500,000
Yip's Chemical (BV) Limited KBRIEE LBR-5008T 100% 100% REER
British Virgin Islands Ordinary-HK$500 Investment holding
ERBREARLT 3 EBR 20087 100% 100% BERH
Yip's Ink and Chemicals Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$200 Trading in coatings
Company Limited
ERhE(RE)ERAA B BER- 2871 100% 100% REZR
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$2 Investment holding
Limited
ERR2(LE)ARLT N ERER 100% 100% HEREERH
-BENELR ~4,340,000%7
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Shanghai) Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in coatings
Company Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise USD4,340,000
EXBE(ML)ERLA N ERER 100% 100% HEREERH
-BENELR ~26,000,00087%
Yip's Ink & Chemicals Mainland China Capital Manufacture of and trading in coatings
(Zhongshan) Company Limited - wholly owned contribution-
foreign enterprise HK$26,000,000

ERLIKEERAA
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EBERY
BR{TRE /2
BEZESH

e

34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

BREIRE/ Proportion of
A/ S HMERZEE nominal value of
Place of Nominal value issued share capital/
NG incorporation/ of issued capital/ registered capital TEEH
Name of company registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2010 2009
RRIRZRERLT o EER-100008%  100%  100%  REER
Yip's Industrial Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary-HK$10,000 Investment holding
Yip's Pacfic Limited RBELHEE LR -36,251,0008%  60% 60% RERR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary-HK$36,251,000 Investment holding
BIESHERERAR N ERER M) Wi —REEER
(MEIEE]) -RERELR ~3,800,000%7 note(d)  note (d)
Zhanjiang Best Lubricant Mainland China Capital Trading in lubricants
Blending Limited ("ZBLB") - equity joint venture contribution-
USD3,800,000
B &E - Notes:
(a) 3 7A 78 /A B 32 #IBauhinia Paints (Thailand) (@  Asthe Company controls the composition and appointment of the board

Manufacturing Limited E B & 2 AR & &
1 WEATHRARDRZHEAT

FHAEEFE ZIELR S ERWBERR
BERAMRAARRAGZBEALE
FARQRARRASHAEELRE - &
ERE MEERBEA(NEAESR)
EEXHEERZSERNIMF2ERHR
100,000,000,000% 7t » BIEFERR B FE A
FERRAAREBREETREERER
ERELERD I ZER -

FR ZARCREAERE(LE) AR

DEREH

AARREIBEEERAR(EIED
DRIEEERETELE 280%K20% °
RETIBzE—HERBTIESHEZ—
#5814 (R R EFSETE SR — B
EBEZHIK)  RIEEEESEEEERE
BF#1,190,000/8 T (BB ELEEME
2+ E)  EIEESWRARDTZ
2EWBAR  MEIBEAZ LI
BRAEEEEZ 5 °

of directors of Bauhinia Paints (Thailand) Manufacturing Limited, this
company is treated as a subsidiary of the Company.

The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, carry no right
to dividend or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of the company. On a winding-up, the holders of the deferred
shares are entitled out of the surplus assets of the company to a return
of capital paid up on the non-voting deferred shares but only when
holders of ordinary shares, namely, the Group, have received in full
the return of capital paid on them and, in aggregate, a total sum of
HK$100,000,000,000.

The company was merged with Bauhina Paints Manufacturing (Shanghai)
Co., Limited during the year.

ZBLB is owned legally as to 80% by the Company and 20% by
Zhanjiang Port Group Company Limited (“Zhanjiang Port”). Since the
only contribution by Zhanjiang Port is a piece of land where ZBLB locates
(which is also the only distribution it entitles upon dissolution of ZBLB)
and it is only entitled to receive a fixed rate of dividend of approximately
HK$1.19 million (deemed lease payment for the piece of land where ZBLB
locates) per annum, ZBLB is deemed to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company and the land injected by Zhanjiang Port does not form part
of the assets of the Group.
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34. TEMBE AR @) 34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)
BRYip's Chemical (BVI) Limited 7 A & & Except for Yip's Chemical (BVI) Ltd. which is held directly by the
BEEEHN MEHEWBE ARG RBER Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held. Except for the
B REABEEMYCIREERAT investment holding companies which have no specific place of
S FEBELEMBARZEEE E R operation, all the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
AEEERY Mz HE o respective place of incorporation/registration.
ERASAEEZHBARNDESRAE The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
HEAREFEEREEEBZTENRED opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets or
"o BEERAIHAMMB AR ZFER liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
BRTREH - the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
EMBARR-_ZE—ZF=A=+—HZ None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31
FREMSERETAEERS o March 2010 or at any time during the year.
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